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Partially Underwritten Rights Issue
Offer Information Statement

For an offer of 5 Shares for every 11 Shares held for the issue of up to
320,786,478 Shares at an issue price
of $0.0045 per Share to raise up to $1,450,000 (Offer)

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

This is an important document that should be read in its entirety. Potential investors should
obtain professional investment advice before accepting the offer for Shares under this Offer

Information Statement.

This document is not a prospectus under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and has a lower
level of disclosure than that which would be required under a prospectus.

The Offer is partially underwritten to an amount of $600,000.

This Offer Information Statement is dated 29 December 2020 and was lodged with ASIC on
29 December 2020 by International Base Metals Limited.

The Shares offered by this Offer Information Statement should be considered
highly speculative.
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholder

I am pleased to present to you this offer to invest in the future of International Base Metals
Limited (IBML or the Company).

The Company owns 46.3% of Omico Copper Limited based in Mauritius which in turn owns
95% of Craton Mining and Exploration (Pty) Ltd in Namibia. Craton maintains Mining
Licence ML197 which covers the Omitiomire Copper project areas. Omico Copper Limited is
fully funded and is committed to investing USD5.0 million in the production of a Bankable
Feasibility Study (BFS) planned to be complete by calendar year end 2022. Omico also hold
Exploration Licence EPL3589 covering 735km? which can be broadly described as the

ground surrounding the mining licence.

IBML'’s partner in Omico is Greenstone Venture Capital a private equity fund and long-term
investor specializing in the mining and metals sector. Greenstone holds other investments in

Namibia and is therefore an established name with a depth of experience in that country.

IBML, through its wholly owned subsidiary, AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd, has a 10% interest in
two exploration licences in the Cobar district of NSW - EL6223 Shuttleton and EL6907
Mount Hope. The other 90% interests are held by subsidiaries of Glencore Australia.
Glencore recently flew airborne magnetic & radiometric survey over both properties; we are

awaiting the interpretations of the data.

The purpose of this fund raising is for working capital to enable the Company to properly
oversee and exploit these opportunities and to prepare the Company to undertake a more
substantial capital raising should either opportunity become commercially viable. Both
through Omico and Auricula, IBML has the right to invest in the future projects should the
feasibility studies present commercial opportunities. IBML will also continue to monitor the

market in Australia and Sub-Saharan Africa for additional investment opportunities.

This capital raising is by way of a non-renounceable rights issue to existing shareholders.
The Offer is a partially underwritten offer to issue 5 Shares for every 11 Shares held on 29
December 2020 at an issue price of $0.0045, to raise up to a total of $1,450,000.

The rights issue is underwritten up to an amount of $600,000 by Rui King Resources Limited
and West Minerals Pty Ltd. Rui King Resources Limited is a related entity of one of the
Directors, Mr Rui Liu, who has also agreed to guarantee the performance of the obligations
of the underwriters. West Minerals Pty Ltd is a related entity of one of the Directors, Mr
Zhehong Luo and is also a related entity of Mr Luo’s Alternate Director, Mr Qiang Chen.



Any investment in IBML by way of this Offer Information Statement or otherwise contains a
significant element of risk and appropriate professional advice should be sought before
making a final decision to proceed.

We look forward to the growth in our portfolio of projects and to the successful exploration
and exploitation of those projects with optimism. Whilst early stage mining opportunities
are always highly speculative we have quality venture partners and the Board of Directors
of IBML commends this opportunity to invest in the Company to you and I look forward to
welcoming your ongoing Shareholder support.

Yours Sincerely
Hugh I Thomas

Chairman



3. Important Notices

This Offer Information Statement dated 29 December 2020 was lodged with ASIC on that
date. ASIC and its officers take no responsibility for the contents of this Offer Information
Statement or the merits of the investment to which this Offer Information Statement relates.

This Offer Information Statement expires on 5February 2021. No Shares will be allotted or
issued on the basis of this Offer Information Statement after that date.

The Offer is a rights offer which is only available to Shareholders of IBML on 29 December
2020.

This Offer Information Statement was prepared in accordance with section 715 of the
Corporations Act and is not a prospectus. An Offer Information Statement has a lower level
of disclosure requirements than a prospectus and investors should obtain professional
investment advice before accepting the Offer.

No Shares may be issued on the basis of this Offer Information Statement later than 13
months after the date of this Offer Information Statement.

Whilst care and diligence have been applied in the preparation of this Offer Information
Statement, neither IBML nor any of its officers, employees or associates nor ASIC make or
give any representation or warranty as to the accuracy, reliability or completeness of the
information contained in this Offer Information Statement. This Offer Information
Statement has not undergone the same extent of verification and due diligence normally
applied with the issue of a prospectus. Nothing contained in this Offer Information
Statement is or may be relied upon as a promise or representation, whether as to the present
or as to the future return or performance of IBML.

No person is authorised to give information or to make any representation in connection
with this Offer Information Statement, which is not contained in the Offer Information
Statement. Any information or representation not so contained may not be relied on as
having been authorised by the Company in connection with this Offer Information
Statement.

It is important that you read this Offer Information Statement in its entirety and seek
professional advice where necessary. The Shares the subject of this Offer Information
Statement should be considered highly speculative.

3.1 Exposure Period

This Offer Information Statement will be circulated during the Exposure Period. The
purpose of the Exposure Period is to enable this Offer Information Statement to be examined
by market participants prior to the raising of funds. You should be aware that this
examination may result in the identification of deficiencies in this Offer Information
Statement and, in those circumstances, any application that has been received may need to



be dealt with in accordance with section 724 of the Corporations Act. In accordance with the
Corporations Act, applications for Shares under this Offer Information Statement will not be
processed by the Company until after the expiry of the Exposure Period. No preference will
be conferred on applications lodged prior to the expiry of the Exposure Period.

3.2 Web Site — Electronic Offer Information Statement

A copy of this Offer Information Statement can be downloaded from the website of the
Company at https://www.interbasemetals.com/investor-information/announcements. If you
are accessing the electronic version of this Offer Information Statement for the purpose of
making an investment in the Company, you must be an Australian resident and must only
access this Offer Information Statement from within Australia.

The Corporations Act prohibits any person passing onto another person an Application
Form unless it is attached to a hard copy of this Offer Information Statement or it
accompanies the complete and unaltered version of this Offer Information Statement. You
may obtain a hard copy of this Offer Information Statement free of charge by contacting the
Company.

The Company reserves the right not to accept an Application Form from a person if it has
reason to believe that when that person was given access to the electronic Application Form,
it was not provided together with the electronic Offer Information Statement and any
relevant supplementary or replacement document or any of those documents were
incomplete or altered.

You can only apply for Shares under the Offer using the Application Form attached to this
Offer Information Statement which has been sent to you.

3.3 Website

No document or information included on our website is incorporated by reference into this
Offer Information Statement.

3.4 Forwarding-looking Statements

This Offer Information Statement contains forward-looking statements which are identified
by words such as ‘may’, ‘could’, ‘believes’, ‘estimates’, “‘targets’, ‘expects’, or ‘intends” and
other similar words that involve risks and uncertainties.

These statements are based on an assessment of present economic and operating conditions,
and on a number of assumptions regarding future events and actions that, as at the date of
this Offer Information Statement, are expected to take place.

Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other important factors, many of
which are beyond the control of the Company, the Directors and our management.



We cannot and do not give any assurance that the results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Offer Information
Statement will actually occur and investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements.

We have no intention to update or revise forward-looking statements, or to publish
prospective financial information in the future, regardless of whether new information,
future events or any other factors affect the information contained in this Offer Information
Statement, except where required by law.

These forward looking statements are subject to various risk factors that could cause our
actual results to differ materially from the results expressed or anticipated in these
statements. These risk factors are set out in sections 4.5 and 7 of this Offer Information
Statement.

3.5 Photographs and Diagrams

Photographs used in this Offer Information Statement which do not have descriptions are
for illustration only and should not be interpreted to mean that any person shown endorses
the Offer Information Statement or its contents or that the assets shown in them are owned
by the Company. Diagrams used in this Offer Information Statement are illustrative only
and may not be drawn to scale.

3.6 Foreign jurisdictions

This Offer Information Statement has been prepared having regard to the Australian
disclosure requirements. The Offer is not intended to constitute an offer in any place or
jurisdiction in which, or to any person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such an
offer or to issue this Offer Information Statement under the laws applicable in that
jurisdiction. It is not practicable for the Company to comply with the securities laws of every
overseas jurisdiction, having regard to the number of overseas Shareholders, the number
and value of the Shares these Shareholders would be offered, and the cost of complying with
regulatory requirements in each relevant jurisdiction.

Accordingly, the Offers are limited to those Shareholders with a registered address which is
in Australia. Applicants who are resident in countries other than Australia should consult
their professional advisers as to whether any governmental or other consent is required or
whether any other formalities need to be considered and followed. This Offer Information
Statement does not constitute an offer in any place in which, or to any person to whom,
where it would be unlawful to make such an offer.

3.7 Definitions

Certain terms and abbreviations used in this Offer Information Statement have defined
meanings that are explained in the Glossary.



4. INVESTMENT OVERVIEW

This section is a summary only and not intended to provide full information for investors
intending to apply for Shares offered pursuant to this Offer Information Statement. This
Offer Information Statement should be read and considered in its entirety.

4.1 The Company

The Company was incorporated on 29 April 2002 and became an unlisted public company
on 29 April 2002. The Company is principally involved in the exploration and exploitation of
base metals, predominately Copper and Gold, with a geographic focus on Australia and
Sub-Saharan Africa.

There are two principal assets of the Company:

1. 46.3% of Omico Copper Limited based in Mauritius which in turns owns 95%
of Craton Mining and Exploration (Pty) Ltd in Namibia

2. through its 100% owned subsidiary, AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd, the Company
has a 10% interest in two exploration licences in the Cobar district of NSW.

Detailed descriptions of the assets can be found in Section 6.
4.2 Business Model

The Company is a minerals exploration company, focused on base metal (predominately
Copper and Gold) exploration in Australia and Sub-Saharan Africa.

The Company’s approach has been to identify and secure the exploration license for
prospective projects. The Company then looks to do initial geological work, usually to the
Pre-Feasibility Stage (PFS), then based on early prospective nature of the project seek ‘blue
chip” investment partners to fund further work on an earn in, or farm in, basis to bring the
projects to the stage of having Bankable Feasibility Studies (BFS). IBML will traditionally
maintain the rights to contribute our equity share of capital should the project move to
exploitation/commercialisation.

4.3 The Objectives

The Company’s main objectives on completion of the Offer are:
e to continue the oversight and assistance in the preparation of the Bankable Feasibility
Study for the Omitiomire Copper Project held through Omico.
e to continue the oversight and assistance in the exploration of the Shuttleton and

Mount Hope Exploration Licences held though Auricula Mining.



e to continue to identify other copper and gold properties for pegging and/or

acquisition.
4.4 Key Investment Highlights

e Earn-in terms have been negotiated with joint partners for both assets of the
Company: Omico with Greenstone Venture Partners, a London based private equity
firm specialising in mining, and Glencore’s subsidiaries, Cobar Management Pty Ltd
and Actway Pty Ltd, for our assets held in Auricula.

e IBML has maintained the rights to coinvest on any commercialisation or mine
development

¢ The Company has assembled an experienced Board of Directors with the range of

skills required to execute the Company’s objectives.

4.5 Key Risks

The business, assets and operations of the Company are subject to certain risk factors that
have the potential to influence the operating and financial performance of the Company in
the future. These risks can impact on the value of an investment in the securities of the
Company.

The Board aims to manage these risks by carefully planning its activities and implementing
risk control measures. Some of the risks are, however, highly unpredictable and the extent to
which they can be effectively managed is limited.

Set out below are some specific risks that the Company is exposed to. Further risks
associated with an investment in the Company are outlined in section 7 of this Offer
Information Statement.

a. Exploration risks: The Company’s exploration licences are at various stages
of exploration, and potential investors should understand that mineral

exploration is a high-risk undertaking. There can be no assurance that
exploration of these licences, or any other tenements that may be acquired in
the future, will result in the discovery of an economic ore deposit.

The future exploration activities of the Company may be affected by a range
of factors including geological conditions, limitations on activities due to
seasonal weather patterns, unanticipated operational and technical
difficulties, industrial and environmental accidents, local title processes,
changing government regulations and many other factors beyond the control
of the Company.



Mineral Resources risk: An Exploration Target is a statement or estimate of
the exploration potential of a mineral deposit in a defined geological setting
where the statement or estimate, quoted as a range of tonnes and a range of

grade, relates to mineralisation for which there has been insufficient
exploration to estimate a clearly definable Mineral Resource. The potential
quantity and grade of the Exploration Target is conceptual in nature, there
has been sufficient exploration to estimate a Mineral Resource within the
Omico asset but not for the assets held in Auricula.

The Exploration Target estimates are based on historic production, drill
assays and surface sampling described in other sections of this Offer
Information Statement based on all known occurrences known over defined
cut of grades.

Development and production risks: Any future discovery may not be
commercially viable or recoverable. For a wide variety of reasons, not all
discoveries are commercially viable and even if an apparently viable deposit

is identified, there is no guarantee that it can be economically developed and
exploited.

Risks of operating in another country: The Company's most significant
opportunity is located in Namibia. The Company’s operations are therefore
subject to the laws and regulations of Namibia. Exploration, development

and mining activities may be affected by political stability and changes to
government regulations relating to the mining industry and foreign
investment. Adverse changes in these regulations may negatively affect the
Company’s growth plans and strategy. Operations may also be affected by
changes to mining laws, environmental laws, income and other taxes and
exchange controls. The success of the Company is dependent on the stability
of the political, economic and legal situation in Namibia. Any change in
legislation could have an adverse effect on the Company.

Regulatory risks: The Company's operations require approvals from
Australian and Namibian regulatory authorities which may not be
forthcoming, either at all or in a timely manner, or which may not be able to
be obtained on terms acceptable to the Company. The Company cannot

guarantee that any or all requisite approvals will be obtained. A failure to
obtain any approval would mean that the Company may be restricted, either
in part or absolutely, from exploration, development and mining activities.

Commodity prices risks: Commodity prices, including copper and gold, can
fluctuate rapidly and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of
the Company. These factors include world demand for commodities,
production cost levels, macroeconomic factors such as expectations regarding
inflation, interest rates and global and regional demand for, and supply of,
commodities as well as general global economic conditions. These factors



may have an adverse effect on the Company’s activities as well as the
Company’s ability to fund those activities.

Future funding risks: The Company has no income producing assets and will
generate losses for the foreseeable future. In order to proceed with the
exploration and development of any project, the Company is likely to be
required to raise additional equity or debt capital in the future. There is no
assurance that it will be able to raise capital or debt when it is required or that
the terms associated with providing such capital or debt will be satisfactory
to the Company, which would mean that the Company may be restricted,
either in part or absolutely, from exploration, development and mining
activities. Any additional equity funding may dilute existing Shareholders.
Also, no guarantee or assurance can be given as to when a project can be
developed to the stage where it will generate cash flow. As such, a project
would be dependent on many factors, including exploration success,
subsequent development, commissioning and operational performance.

COVID-19: Following the recent outbreak of COVID-19, an infectious
respiratory illness caused by a novel coronavirus, there have been impacts to
Australian businesses in the form of travel restrictions, healthcare systems,
disruption, imposed quarantine periods, service cancellations, supply chain
disruptions, lower consumer demand, defaults and other significant
economic impacts. Certain industries have experienced temporary closures,
reduced operations and increased trading costs. Some of these events may
have an impact on the Company. Other infectious illness outbreaks in the
future may result in similar impact.

Liquidity risks: intending subscribers should recognise that the Company is

not listed on a stock exchange and there is no secondary market in existence
for IBML Shares. Shareholders may not be able to readily sell their Shares to
achieve a sale price equivalent to their initial investment and may not be able
to sell their Shares at all.

Speculative Investment: Investment is subject to risks of a general nature

relating to investment in shares and securities and especially where the
company in which the investment is made has a small market capitalisation,
such as the case with the Company. The above list of risk factors ought not to
be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by the Company or by investors in
the Company. The above factors, and others not specifically referred to above,
may in the future materially affect the financial performance of the Company
and the value of the Shares offered under this Offer Information Statement.
Therefore, the Shares to be issued pursuant to this Offer Information
Statement carry no guarantee with respect to the payment of dividends,
returns of capital or the market value of those Shares.

Potential investors should consider that an investment in the Company is
speculative and should consult their professional advisers before deciding
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whether to apply for the Shares offered under this Offer Information
Statement.

The above list of risk factors ought not to be taken as exhaustive of the risks
faced by the Company and you should refer to the additional risk factors in
section 7 of this Offer Information Statement before deciding whether to

apply for Shares pursuant to this Offer Information Statement.

4.6 The Offer

This Offer is a non-renounceable rights issue pursuant to which the Company invites
applications for up to 320,786,478 Shares at $0.0045 per Share to raise up to $1,450,000
(before expenses of the Offer).

The Offer is non-renounceable. This means that the rights of Eligible Shareholders to

subscribe for Shares under this Offer Information Statement are not transferable.

No Shares will be issued under the Offer if that issue would result in a breach of the

takeover prohibitions in Chapter 6 of the Corporations Act.

Each Eligible Shareholder’s Entitlement under the Offer is to apply for 5 Shares for each 11
Shares held by that Eligible Shareholder as at the date of this Offer Information Statement,
29 December 2020.

By way of examples:
e if an Eligible Shareholder holds 20,000,000 Shares as at the date of this Offer
Information Statement, their Entitlement is to acquire 9,090,909 Shares under the
Offer; or
e if an Eligible Shareholder holds 56,909,078 Shares as at the date of this Offer
Information Statement, their Entitlement is to acquire 25,867,763 Shares under the
Offer.

All Eligible Shareholders may apply for Shares in excess of their Entitlement. However, the
issue and allotment of Shares in excess of an Eligible Shareholder’s Entitlement will be
allotted in accordance with the Directors’ discretion. The intention of the Directors is, to the
extent permitted by law, to issue available Shares in the event of a shortfall to such Eligible
Shareholders applying for Shares in excess of their Entitlement, in priority to the
Underwriter.

The Offer will remain open until the Closing Date, 5 February 2021, unless all Eligible
Shareholders take up their Entitlement earlier or the Closing Date is extended by the
Directors.
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Pursuant to the Corporations Act no Shares will be issued after the Expiry Date.

Eligible Shareholders may apply for Shares under the Offer by submitting their Application
Form which is attached to this Offer Information Statement. If you submit an Application
for Shares this constitutes an offer by you to subscribe for Shares on the terms and subject to
the conditions set out in this Offer Information Statement. A binding contract to issue
Shares will be formed when your Application is accepted by IBML. IBML will accept all
valid Applications from Eligible Shareholders in respect of their Entitlement.

Eligible Shareholders may return their completed Application Form together with payment
of the Application Monies (in each case in accordance with the payment methods set out in
the Application Form) at any time after the date of this Offer Information Statement and
before the Closing Date.

The key information relating to the Offer and references to further details are set out below.
4.7 Partially Underwritten

The Offer is partially underwritten by Rui King Resources Limited and West Minerals Pty
Ltd (whose underwriting obligations are each guaranteed by Rui Liu), which have agreed to
partially underwrite the Offer to the maximum amount of $600,000 or 132,739,232 shares
should existing shareholders not take up their rights.

Rui King Resources Limited is a related entity of one of the Directors, Mr Rui Liu. West
Minerals Pty Ltd is a related entity of one of the Directors, Mr Zhehong Luo and is also a
related entity of Mr Luo’s Alternate Director, Mr Qiang Chen. The relevant interests of Mr
Liu, Mr Luo and Mr Chen and their respective voting power in the Company (including the
effects of the Offer and the potential acquisition of Shares due to the underwriting) are set
out in section 4.17 of this Offer Information Statement.

The Underwriters and the Company have entered into an underwriting agreement. Under
the underwriting agreement, no fee will be paid to the Underwriters or any other person for
underwriting the Offer. The Underwriters do not, under any circumstances, have the right
to terminate their agreement to underwrite the Offer.

Entry into the underwriting agreement is a related party transaction under Chapter 2E
Corporations Act. The Directors (other than Mr Liu and Mr Luo (and Mr Chen as his
alternate)) have determined that the underwriting agreement is on terms to which the “arms
length” exception in section 210 Corporations Act applies.

The Directors (other than Mr Liu and Mr Luo (and Mr Chen as his alternate)) believe that
the Underwriters have the financial capacity and ability to fund the partial underwriting of
the Offer of $600,000. Further, the Directors believe that without the backing and support of
Mr Liu, Mr Luo and Mr Chen and entities associated with them, the Company would be
unlikely to be able to source sufficient funds to proceed with the objectives set out in this
Offer Information Statement.
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The Company has not sought member approval for the underwriting agreement.

4.8 Indicative Timetable !

Lodgement of Offer Information Statement with ASIC 29 December 2020
Opening Date 13 January 2021
Closing Date 5 February 2021
Despatch of Share Certificates 12 February 2021

! The above dates are indicative only and may change without notice. The Company reserves the right

to extend the Closing Date or close the Offer early without notice.

4.9 Purpose of the Offer

The purpose of the Offer is to raise sufficient working capital for the continued oversight

and management of the existing investment opportunities.

4.10 Use of Funds

The Company intends to apply finds raised from the Offer as follows:

Full Subscription Percent of $600,000 | Percent of

Allocation of Funds ($1,450,000) Funds raised Funds
$ under the
% Offer
Expenses of the Offer 2 27,000 1.86 27,000 4.50
General and Administrative 896,000 61.79 448,000 74.67

expenses — people costs

including travel

General and Administrative 125,000 20.83

expenses — Property, Plant, 300,000 20.69
Equipment

3 party costs associated with 0 0
investigation of other tenement 227,000 15.66
or project acquisition

opportunities

Total 1,450,000 100 600,000 100
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2 Refer to section 11.6 of this Offer Information Statement for further details.

The above table is a statement of current intentions as of the date of this Offer Information
Statement. As with any budget, intervening events and new circumstances have the
potential to affect the manner in which the funds are ultimately applied. The Board reserves

the right to alter the way funds are applied on this basis.
4.11 Capital Structure

The capital structure of the Company following completion of the Offer (assuming full

subscription) is summarised below:

Shares Number
Currently on Issue 707,942,572
To be issued pursuant to the Offer 320,786,478
Total Shares on completion of Offer 1,028,729,050

The Company has no Options on issue or outstanding.

4.12 Substantial Shareholders

Those Shareholders holding 5% or more of the Shares on issue as at the date of this Offer

Information Statement are set out in table below.

As at the date of the Offer Information Statement:

Holder Name Shares Held %

Rui King Resources Limited 168,630,068 23.82

West Minerals Pty Limited 118,326,492 16.71

Mining Tenement Management Pty Ltd 56,909,078 8.04
Notes:

1. Rui King Resources Limited is a related party of Mr Rui Liu, a Director of the
Company

2. West Minerals Pty Limited is a related party of Mr Zhehong Luo, a Director of
the Company and is also a related entity of Mr Luo’s Alternate Director, Mr
Qiang Chen
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4.13 Key Offer Statistics, Historical and Pro-forma Financial Information

Key Offer Statistics:

Offer Price

Shares offered under this Offer Information Statement

Shares retained by Existing Shareholders

Total Shares on issue on completion of the Offer

(if all Entitlements taken up)

Pro-forma cash on hand on completion of the Offer

(if all Entitlements taken up)

Key Financial Information:

$0.0045

320,786,478

707,942,572

1,028,729,050

$1,832,788

Audited Annual Audited Annual Pro-forma3
Accounts Financial | Accounts Financial
Year End June 30, Year End June 30,
2019 2020
$ $ 3

Total Assets 414,695 447,662 1,870,662
Total Liabilities 311,779 1,442,454 1,442,454
Net Assets 102,916 (994,792) 428,208
Cash Balance 297,742 409,788 1,832,788

Audited Annual Accounts | Audited Annual Accounts
Financial Year End June 30, | Financial Year End June 30,
2019 2020
$ $
Revenue 113,193 152,737
Loss after Income Tax 3,154,110 1,097,708
Loss per Share * 0.46 0.16
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Investors should note that past financial performance of the Company is not a guide to the
future financial performance of the Company.

Notes:

3. The Pro-forma Statement of Financial Position information has been prepared
based on the audited Statement of Financial Position of the Company as at 30
June 2020 and adjusted for the transactions resulting from the Offer pursuant
to this Offer Information Statement. The assumptions on which the Pro-forma
Statement of Financial Position is based are the Directors' best estimate
assumptions are subject to uncertainties and contingencies which are beyond
the control of the Directors.

4. Adjusted for shares on issues at the time

4.14 Taxation:

The acquisition and disposal of Shares will have tax consequences, which will differ
depending on the individual financial affairs of each investor. All potential investors in the
Company are urged to obtain independent financial advice about the consequences of

acquiring Shares from a taxation viewpoint and generally.

To the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company, its officers and each of their
respective advisors accept no liability and responsibility with respect to the taxation

consequences of subscribing for Shares under this Offer Information Statement.

4.15 Dividend Policy:

The Company does not yet have a dividend policy and has no immediate intention to
declare or distribute dividends. Any future determination as to the payment of dividends by
the Company will be at the discretion of the Directors and will depend on the availability of
distributable earnings and operating results and financial condition of the Company, future
capital requirements and general business and other factors considered relevant by the
Directors. No assurance in relation to the payment of dividends or franking credits attaching
to dividends can be given by the Company.
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4.16 Directors and Key Personnel:

The Board has a broad range of experience in the mining industry, exploration and geology

as well as commercial expertise. A summary of the experience of each of the Directors is set

out below.

Mr Hugh Ian Thomas

Executive Chairman

Qualifications: BA, Grad Dip Finance,

Experience: Hugh has had significant experience in the resources sector as a
company director, senior financial executive and investment banker
working throughout the Asian region including China as well as parts
of Africa. He was based in Hong Kong for several years in senior
positions with JP Morgan and Morgan Stanley, returning to Australia
in 2011 to take up a senior position with South African investment
bank, Investec, in Sydney. Since 2014 Hugh has worked as an
independent investment banker and company director based in South
East Asia.

Dr Kenneth John Maiden

Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: BSc, PhD

Experience: Ken has had more than 40 years professional experience - as an
exploration geologist with major resource companies (CSR and MIM),
as an academic (University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg) and
as a mineral exploration consultant. He has participated in successful
mineral exploration programmes in Australia, southern Africa and
Indonesia. Ken has previously established mineral exploration
companies in Southern Africa, South Australia and Queensland, and is
a founding Director of International Base Metals Limited.

Mr Rui Liu

Non-Executive Director
Qualifications: ~ BSc

Experience: Rui Liu has worked in geology and the mineral industry since his
graduation from university in 1985. He became the Deputy Director of
Heilongjiang Geology Mineral Testing Application Research Institute
in 1988 and later went to Botswana as Deputy General Manager of
CGC Botswana Co., Ltd. Rui Liu has been General Manager and
Chairman of Heilong Group since 2005. He holds the position of
Executive Deputy Chairman of the Heilongjiang Mining Industry
Association.
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Mr Jinhua Wang
Non-executive Director

Qualifications: B Min Eng, Master of Industrial Engineering

Experience: Mr Wang is a Senior Engineer and Deputy Director, Mining Association of
Zhejiang Province, China.
Mr Wang has extensive experience in mining project development and
marketing. In 2002, he established Hangzhou Kings Industry Co. Ltd, a
company engaged in the investment and management of fluorspar mines
and the fluoride chemical industry. The company possesses the largest
fluorspar reserves in China and is an industrial leader.

Mr Qiang Chen
Alternate Director to Zhehong Luo
Qualifications: BSc, MSc

Experience: Qiang Chen is Managing Director of West Minerals Pty Ltd, one of the
Company’s largest shareholders. Mr Chen, a resident of Perth, has extensive
experience in international commodities trading and private equity
investment. In the 1990's he was the Marketing Manager of China
Metallurgical Import and Export Corporation.

Mr Shilai Jiang

Experience: Jiang Shilai, is a surveying and mapping engineer. From 1987 to 1999,
worked in Xianlinbu Molybdenum Mine in Hangzhou and from 2000 to
2008, he was engaged in marketing management in Hangzhou Nobel Group

Co., Ltd. responsible for the sales management of the Southwest region of
Nobel Group.

From 2009 to present, he has served as executive deputy general manager of
Qinghai West Resources Co., Ltd. and Qinghai West Rare and Precious
Metals Co., Ltd., engaged in the management of mining enterprises.

Mr Xianwu Deng

Alternate Director to Mr Jinhua Wang

Qualifications: Bachelor’s degree in mining engineering at the University of Science &
Technology Beijing, China, CPA and an economist

Experience: Currently he is the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of China Kings
Resources Group Company Ltd., China
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Company Secretary

Mr John Stone
Qualifications: ~ B Econ
Experience: John has over 30 years’ experience in the Australian and international

corporate markets. He has been a director and company secretary for several
private and public listed companies.

4.17 Shares held by Directors:

The relevant interest of each of the Directors in the securities of the Company as at the date

of this Offer Information Statement is set out below.

e Mr Hugh Ian Thomas — 13,603,963 ordinary shares held indirectly through
Tamerlane Group Limited

¢ Dr Kenneth John Maiden - 10,613,001 ordinary shares

e  Mr Rui Liu - 193,652,701 ordinary shares held indirectly through Rui King Resources
and Heilongjiang Resources Investment Co Ltd

e Mr Jinhua Wang - 42,500,000 ordinary shares held indirectly through China Sun
Industry Pty Ltd and China King Resources Group Co Ltd

e Mr Zhehong Luo - 118,326,492 ordinary shares held indirectly through West
Minerals Pty Ltd

Mr Rui Liu’s related parties Rui King Resources Limited and Heilongjiang Resources
Investment Co Ltd currently hold voting power in the Company of approximately
27.35%.

This Offer under the Offer Information Statement is partially underwritten up to
A$600,000 by Rui King Resources Limited and West Minerals Pty Ltd (whose
underwriting obligations are guaranteed in each case by Rui Liu). Rui King Resources
Limited is a related entity of Mr Liu. West Minerals Pty Ltd is a related entity of Mr
Zhehong Luo and is also a related entity of Mr Luo’s Alternate Director, Mr Qiang
Chen.

If Eligible Shareholders do not take up their Entitlements or subscribe for the full
amount of the Offer, the Underwriters are required, in accordance with the
underwriting agreement, to acquire the shortfall up to a maximum subscription amount
of $600,000 and thus the Underwriters may acquire up to 132,739,227 Shares if Eligible
Shareholders do not take up their Entitlement under the Offer.

The obligations of each Underwriter under the underwriting agreement are as follows:
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of $350,000;

Rui King Resources Limited will underwrite the shortfall up to a maximum amount

West Minerals Pty Ltd will underwrite the shortfall to the extent that it exceeds
$350,000 (up to a maximum underwritten amount of $250,000); and
in the event that Rui King Resources Limited or West Minerals Pty Ltd fails to

comply with its obligations under the underwriting agreement, then Rui Liu will,

upon demand from the Company underwrite all such shortfall in respect of which

such breach applies.

The shareholdings and voting power in IBML of Mr Liu and entities related to and/or

controlled by Mr Liu in a number of potential outcomes under the Offer are described in

the table below (in each case on the basis, as confirmed by Mr Liu that, in accordance

with the takeover prohibitions in Chapter 6 of the Corporations Act, those entities will

not take up their Entitlement under the Offer):

Outcome Number of | Percentage

Shares held of Shares
held

Shares held at the date of this Offer Information | 193,652,791 27.35%

Statement

Shares held if all Eligible Shareholders (excluding Mr | 271,084,010 26.35%

Liu and entities related to and/or controlled by Mr

Liu) take up their Entitlement

Shares held if other Eligible Shareholders (excluding | 271,084,010 27.35%

Mr Liu and entities related to and/or controlled by Mr

Liu) take up 80% of the total Entitlements and the

shortfall is issued to the Underwriters

Shares held if no Eligible Shareholders take up their | 271,084,010 32.25%

Entitlement and the shortfall is issued to the

Underwriters

In addition to any Shares issued pursuant to the Offer, Rui King Resources Limited

may potentially acquire further Shares pursuant to the convertible note issued to it

by the Company as described in section 8.4b.

The shareholdings and voting power in IBML of Mr Luo and Mr Chen and entities
related to and/or controlled by them in a number of potential outcomes under the Offer

are described in the table below (in each case on the basis, as confirmed by Mr Luo and
Mr Chen that those entities will not take up their Entitlement under the Offer to the
extent that to do so would be in breach of the takeover prohibitions in Chapter 6 of the

Corporations Act):
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Outcome

Number
Shares held

of

Percentage
of Shares
held

Shares held at the date of this Offer Information
Statement

118,326,492

16.71%

Shares held if all Eligible Shareholders (including Mr
Luo and Mr Chen and entities related to and/or
controlled by them, only to the extent permitted under
the takeover prohibitions in Chapter 6 of the
Corporations Act) take up their Entitlement

173,634,505

16.88%

Shares held if other Eligible Shareholders (including
Mr Luo and Mr Chen and entities related to and/or
controlled by them, only to the extent permitted under
the takeover prohibitions in Chapter 6 of the
Corporations Act) take up 80% of the total
Entitlements and the shortfall is issued to the
Underwriters

173,634,505

17.52%

Shares held if no Eligible Shareholders take up their
Entitlement and the shortfall is issued to the
Underwriters

173,634,505

20.65%

4.18 Corporate Governance:

The Company has adopted The Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations

(4th Edition) as published by ASX Corporate Governance Council (Recommendations).

The Company’s main corporate governance policies and practices are available from the

Company’s website www.interbasemetals.com

4.19 Related Party Agreements:

The Company’s policy in respect of related party arrangements is:

a.

a Director with a material personal interest in a matter is required to give notice to

the other Directors before such a matter is considered by the Board; and

for the Board to consider such a matter, the Director who has a material personal

interest is not present while the matter is being considered at the meeting and does

not vote on the matter.

The Company has entered into the following agreements with related parties of the

Company; the Board considers that all arrangements are on arms length commercial terms:
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a. Appointment Agreements between the Company and each Director and the
Company Secretary; and

b. A secured loan provided by Messrs Rui Liu and Qiang Chen
A Convertible Note provided by Rui King Resources Limited

Agreements b. and c. above are summarised in section 8.4 of this Offer Information

Statement.
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5. DETAILS OF THE OFFER

5.1 The Offer

Pursuant to the non renounceable rights issue under this Offer Information Statement, the
Company offers up to 320,786,478 new Shares at an issue price of $0.0045 per share to raise
up to $1,450,000 (before expenses of the Offer).

Each Eligible Shareholder’s Entitlement under the Offer is to apply for 5 Shares for each 11
Shares held by that Eligible Shareholder as at the date of this Offer Information Statement,
29 December 2020.

The Shares offered under this Offer Information Statement will rank equally with the
existing Shares on issue.

5.2 Partial underwriting

The Offer is partially underwritten by Rui King Resources Limited and West Minerals Pty
Ltd (whose underwriting obligations are guaranteed in each case by Rui Liu) to a maximum
amount of 132,739,232 shares for a subscription amount of $600,000. For the avoidance of
doubt this means that should no other Shareholder participate in the Offer, Rui King

Resources Limited and West Minerals Pty Ltd (and Rui Liu, if applicable) will pay $600,000
for 132,739,232 shares thus diluting all other shareholders proportionately.

5.3 Applications

Applications for Shares under the Offer must be made using the Application Form.
Applications for Shares must be for a minimum of 1,000 Shares and thereafter in multiples of
1,000 Shares and payment for the Shares must be made in full at the issue price of $0.0045

per Share.

Completed Application Forms and accompanying payment must be delivered in accordance
with the instructions set out on the Application Form by no later than the Closing Date.

The Company reserves the right to close the Offer early.
5.4 No ASX listing
The Shares offered under this Offer Information Statement will not be listed on ASX

following their issue and the Company will remain an unlisted public company following
the completion of this Offer.
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5.5 Issue

Issue of Shares offered by this Offer Information Statement will take place as soon as
practicable after the Closing Date.

Pending the issue of the Shares or payment of refunds pursuant to this Offer Information
Statement, all application monies will be held by the Company in trust for the Applicants.
The Company, however, will be entitled to retain all interest that accrues on the bank
account and each Applicant waives the right to claim interest.

Each Eligible Shareholder’s Entitlement is to apply for 5 Shares for each 11 Shares held by
them as at the Record Date, 29 December 2020. Please contact the Company if you do not
know your Entitlement.

If you submit a valid Application Form (along with the Application Monies) to apply for
your Entitlement or a number of Shares less than your Entitlement, you will be allocated the
number of Shares you apply for unless the Company decides to close the Offer and return
your Application Monies (along with all other Application Monies received).

You can apply for more or less Shares than your Entitlement. Any Shares applied for over
and above your Entitlement will be allotted in accordance with the Directors' sole and
absolute discretion, and you may or may not be allotted those Shares. Shares applied for in
excess of your Entitlement will not be issued to you if that issue would result in a breach of
the takeover prohibitions in Chapter 6 of the Corporations Act.

Only IBML Shareholders on the Record Date are able to participate in the Offer. Any Shares
not taken up by the Eligible Shareholders, or applied for in excess of an Eligible
Shareholders” Entitlement, will be allocated by the Directors in their discretion and may be
acquired by the Underwriters in accordance with the underwriting agreement. The effect on
the voting power of the Underwriters in a number of potential scenarios under the Offer is
set out in section 4.17 of this Offer Information Statement.

If you apply for more than your Entitlement, the Directors reserve the right to allot a lesser
number of Shares than you applied for, however, subject to the terms in this Offer
Information Statement, you will be allotted your Entitlement. If the number of Shares
allotted to you is less than the number applied for, the surplus Application Monies will be
refunded to you within seven days after the allotment of Shares.

IBML reserves the right not to continue with the Offer at any time prior to the issue or
allotment of Shares under this Offer Information Statement.

5.6 Applicants Outside Australia

This Offer Information Statement does not, and is not intended to, constitute an offer in any

place or jurisdiction, or to any person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such an offer
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or to issue this Offer Information Statement. The distribution of this Offer Information
Statement in jurisdictions outside Australia may be restricted by law and persons who come
into possession of this Offer Information Statement should seek advice on and observe any
of these restrictions. Any failure to comply with such restrictions may constitute a violation

of applicable securities laws.

No action has been taken to register or qualify the Shares or otherwise permit a public
offering of the Shares the subject of this Offer Information Statement in any jurisdiction
outside Australia. Applicants who are resident in countries other than Australia should
consult their professional advisers as to whether any governmental or other consents are

required or whether any other formalities need to be considered and followed.

If you are outside Australia it is your responsibility to obtain all necessary approvals for the
issue of the Shares pursuant to this Offer Information Statement. The return of a completed
Application Form will be taken by the Company to constitute a representation and warranty
by you that all relevant approvals have been obtained.

5.7 Oversubscriptions

No oversubscriptions will be accepted by the Company.

5.8 Financial report basis

IBML's financial reporting year ends 30 June. An audited financial report has been prepared
for the twelve (12) months ended 30 June 2020 as required by the Corporations Act and is
included at section 8.
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6. COMPANY AND PROJECTS

6.1 Introduction

Founded in 2002, the Company is a mining exploration company with projects in Namibia
and Australia. The Company’s business model was summarised in section 4.2 of the Offer
Information Statement.

The Company is currently an Australian Unlisted Public Company. The corporate structure
holding the assets is summarised diagrammatically below:

International Base
Metals Limited

(Australia)

46.3% 100%

Omico Copper
Limited

Auricula Mines Pty
Ltd

(Mauritius) (Australia)

10.0%

Craton Mining and Shuttletpn .
o Exploration Exploration
Exploration Pty Ltd Tease Tease
(Namibia) Australia Australia

100%

Omitiomire

Project
(Namibia)

The Company’s joint venture partner in Omico is Greenstone Venture Capital LP.
Greenstone is a London based private equity fund and long-term investor in the mining and
metals sector. Greenstone considers itself to be an industry insider, with in-house
operational, construction, permitting, stakeholder engagement and financial experience,
which can be leveraged to add value to investments. Greenstone was Co-founded by
Michael Haworth and Mark Sawyer, the Greenstone investment team possesses over 100
years of experience covering all key aspects of mining project development.

The Company’s joint venture partner through the Auricula subsidiary is Cobar Management
Pty Ltd which is a 100% subsidiary of Glencore PLC. Glencore plc is an Anglo-Swiss
diversified natural resources company headquartered in Baar, Switzerland. The Company
operates in three groups, metals and minerals, energy products, and agricultural products.
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Mineral Tenements

Licence Code Name Area (km?) Expiry Date Status
Omitiomire Project
(Craton)
ML 197 Omitiomire 29 km? 06-03-2036 Granted
EPL 3589 Ekuja 735 km? 13-02-2021 Granted
AuriCula Mines JV Projects
EL 6223 Shuttleton 13 units 05-04-2020(Renewal Application Submitted) | JV with CMPL
EL 6907 Mt Hope 23 units 11-10-2021 JV with CMPL
Notes:

e NSW Exploration Licences: a “unit” is an area of 1 Minute of Latitude x 1 Minute of
Longitude.
e EPL3589’s renewal has been submitted, the IBML Board is unaware of any issue that

would prevent the Licence from being renewed

6.2 Omitiomire Project

The Omitiomire Project hosts the Omitiomire copper deposit. The project is entirely within
EPL 3589 which covers some 735km? and lies approximately 120 km northeast of Windhoek
in central Namibia. The Omitiomire Project consists of the basement schist and gneissic
rocks of the Ekuja Dome which hosts the Omitiomire copper deposit and the
Barreshagencopper prospect which is considered to be analogous to the Omitiomire deposit.
The Omitiomire deposit is hosted by banded schist and gneiss which are overlain by
massive unmineralised quartz-feldspar gneiss. The copper mineralisation occurs mainly as
chalcocite within bands of biotite-bearing schist. The deposit comprises a broadly tabular
body lying at a depth of approximately 20 m below surface to greater than 200 m below
surface and dips towards the east. The interpretation of the Omitiomire deposit indicates
that it lies at the eastern edge of the Ekuja Dome whereas the Barreshagen prospect lies on
the southern flank. As such the margin of the dome is considered likely to be a primary
control on the location of copper mineralisation. Recent geochemical soil sampling by IBML
confirms this interpretation with anomalous and highly encouraging results along a strike

length of up to 20km following the margin of the dome.

The deposit consists of a number of stacked parallel tabular bodies (“lenses”) which partly
merge.
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Drill section showing stacked ore lenses. The numbers on the right-hand side of the figure
show elevation above sea level

In August 2014, Bloy Resource Evaluation (‘Bloy”’) provided an updated resource estimate of
137 million tonnes (‘Mt’) at an average grade of 0.54% copper (‘Cu’) at a cut-off grade of
0.25% Cu. The resources are reported in accordance with the guidelines set out by the Joint
Ore Reserves Committee (JORC, 2012). The Measured and Indicated categories constitute
71% of the deposit.

Resource class Million tonnes (Mt)  Grade (% Cu)  Contained metal ('000 t)
Measured 4.4 0.85 38
Indicated 03.4 0.52 486
Inferred 39.1 0.56 217
Total 136.9 0.54 741

Table 2. Omitiomire resource at a cut-off grade of 0.25% Cu (Bloy, 2014).
Note: The resource figures are not constrained within any form of resource limiting pit shell

In addition, Bloy reported Exploration Target material, also at a cut-off grade of 0.25% Cu, in
the range 76 Mt — 155 Mt for 430,000t — 650,000t of metal grading between 0.4% and 0.6%

Cu.

Caution: Exploration Target material remains conceptual in nature and might or might not
be realised in the future.
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Note: The techincial information relating to the Omitiomire resources has been summarised from a
report dated 31 August 2014, provide by Bloy Resource Evaluation.

Primary copper mineralisation occurs mainly as the mineral chalcocite (Cu2S) with minor
bornite (CubFeS4) within bands of mafic (amphibole-biotite-plagioclase) schist. There are no
iron sulphides (pyrite or pyrrhotite). The highest copper grades are associated with bands
of strongly deformed epidote-biotite schist. Inter-banded felsic (quartz-plagioclase-biotite)
gneiss is barren. Banding is on a scale of centimetres to metres in thickness.

Sawn NQ drill core showing the banded nature of Omitiomire ore.
The steel-grey mineral is chalcocite and the brown-coloured mineral is chrome-epidote

Primary sulphide copper is oxidised to 20m depth and partly oxidised to 40m depth. Oxide
copper occurs mainly as the mineral malachite (green hydrated copper carbonate) with
subordinate chrysocolla (blue hydrated copper silicate) and minor tenorite (black copper
oxide). The proportion of primary chalcocite increases with depth.

Initial 2021 Programme
Preparations for the Initial Programme have begun and the programme will comprise the
following three key components:

1. Metallurgical Test Programme

Given the previous focus on a float concept, limited work was done to test the heap
leachability of the chalcocite orebody and so obtaining this data will be critical to future
development of the OCP. Preliminary sequential copper assaying was conducted by GVC
during due diligence using small composite samples and this work will be expanded to
confirm metallurgy across the deposit and outline the parameters for a commercial heap-
leach operation.

OBJECTIVE:
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Proof of concept that sulphuric acid heap leaching, with SX/EW to produce Cu cathode, with
be a suitable, and economic, processing route for the Omitiomire deposit. This programme
will include:

e Assaying of the existing core,

e Selection of composite samples for heap leach column test work based on geo-
metallurgical classification of the material,

e Curing acid optimisation tests,

e Stacking tests,

e Hydrodynamic column tests,

e Column leach tests.

PROGRAMME:

Phase 1: Cutting and Sampling of the Existing PQ Core:

The PQ core on site is currently being cut in half and sampled. There is approximately 600m
of core to cut, with an average sample interval length of 1.6m, to produce approximately 370
individual samples. Samples will be shipped to Mintek in Johannesburg.

Approximately 5 weeks.
Phase 2: Assaying of Samples at Mintek for:

e Total copper,

e Sequential copper - being acid soluble copper followed by cyanide soluble copper (as
a proxy for heap leach conditions),

e Ferric-soluble copper (to better define the chalcocite component),

e GAC (Gangue Acid Consumption) on composites to initially evaluate the acid
consumption.

All these data will be used, with geological logging records, to define the geo-metallurgical
classification of the various material types in the deposit for the selection of composites for
the column test work.

Approximately 5 weeks.
Phase 3: Metallurgical and Column Test work
Range of test work to include:

e Curing acid optimisation tests at 3 acid strengths initially,

e Stacking tests,

¢ Hydrodynamic column tests,

e Column leach tests - initially planned 8 columns on a 150-day leach cycle

Approximately 5 months. After approximately 2 months there should be sufficient initial
results indicating if heap leach and SX/EW is a potential processing route for Omitiomire.
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2. Critical Studies

Three key strategic inputs have been identified for restudy as a priority both to feed into the

BFS and also to provide the basis for commencing any long-lead permitting:

3.

Power: investigate options for the supply of electricity, outside of connecting to the
local grid. Alternatives should also be considered such as diesel generation or a
combined genset/solar solution. Study work will cover both demand and supply
side.

Water Study: The previous prefeasibility study from Namwater in 2009 outlined
connection to a trunk line to be connected from the Kombat mine to Windhoek. That
proposal will need to be revisited since the existing pipeline capacity is now
dedicated for Windhoek consumption and so additional capacity will be required to
connect to the main line.

Acid: the acid market in Namibia is undergoing considerable change with potential
operational changes at Tschudi and Skorpion due to influence acid supplies by the
time the OCP comes into commissioning. Utility of a nearby rail line may also
improve economics of shipping acid from South Africa via Walvis Bay.
Environmental: the OCP currently has a valid Environmental Clearance Certificate
from the MET until May 2021, which permits commercial exploration and mining
under the previously proposed small-scale oxide development project. While it is not
required to undertake any additional regulatory environmental work, it may be
advisable to commission baseline studies in anticipation of renewal.

Regional Exploration

There may be merit of further investigation into the larger exploration potential of the

Omitiomire and Steinhausen Projects based on the existing geological data available.

Multiple geochemical anomalies have been identified, but never pursued, over the larger

Ekuja Dome setting of the Omitiomire deposit.

D b ':‘y‘ v Sl T :
Om|t|om|re OXIde copper ore. The green mineral is malachlte the que -green mineral is
chrysocolla
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6.3 Omitiomire Project; Bankable Feasibility Study - 2021 schedule

Omico is currently conducting a Bankable Feasibility Study which is planned for completion
in early 2023.

Preparations for the 2021 Omico Work Programme have begun and the programme will
comprise the following three key components:

1. Metallurgical Test Programme

Given the previous focus on a float concept, limited work was done to test the heap
leachability of the chalcocite orebody and so obtaining this data will be critical to future
development of the OCP. Preliminary sequential copper assaying was conducted by
Greenstone during due diligence using small composite samples and this work will be
expanded to confirm metallurgy across the deposit and outline the parameters for a
commercial heap-leach operation.

OBJECTIVE:

Proof of concept that sulphuric acid heap leaching, with SX/EW to produce Cu cathode, with
be a suitable, and economic, processing route for the Omitiomire deposit. This programme
will include:

e Assaying of the existing core,

e Selection of composite samples for heap leach column test work based on geo-
metallurgical classification of the material,

e Curing acid optimisation tests,
e Stacking tests,

e Hydrodynamic column tests,

e Column leach tests.

PROGRAMME:

Phase 1: Cutting and Sampling of the Existing PQ Core:

The PQ core on site is currently being cut in half and sampled. There is approximately 600m
of core to cut, with an average sample interval length of 1.6m, to produce approximately 370
individual samples. Samples will be shipped to Mintek in Johannesburg.

Approximately 5 weeks.
Phase 2: Assaying of Samples at Mintek for:

e Total copper,

e Sequential copper - being acid soluble copper followed by cyanide soluble copper (as
a proxy for heap leach conditions),

e Ferric-soluble copper (to better define the chalcocite component),
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e GAC (Gangue Acid Consumption) on composites to initially evaluate the acid
consumption.

All these data will be used, with geological logging records, to define the geo-metallurgical
classification of the various material types in the deposit for the selection of composites for
the column test work.

Approximately 5 weeks.
Phase 3: Metallurgical and Column Test work
Range of test work to include:

e Curing acid optimisation tests at 3 acid strengths initially,

e Stacking tests,

e Hydrodynamic column tests,

e Column leach tests - initially planned 8 columns on a 150-day leach cycle

Approximately 5 months. After approximately 2 months there should be sufficient initial
results indicating if heap leach and SX/EW is a potential processing route for Omitiomire.

2. Critical Studies

Three key strategic inputs have been identified for restudy as a priority both to feed into the
BES and also to provide the basis for commencing any long lead permitting:

e Power: investigate options for the supply of electricity, outside of connecting to the
local grid. Alternatives should also be considered such as diesel generation or a
combined genset/solar solution. Study work will cover both demand and supply
side.

e Water Study: The previous prefeasibility study from Namwater in 2009 outlined
connection to a trunk line to be connected from the Kombat mine to Windhoek. That
proposal will need to be revisited since the existing pipeline capacity is now
dedicated for Windhoek consumption and so additional capacity will be required to
connect to the main line.

e Acid: the acid market in Namibia is undergoing considerable change with potential
operational changes at Tschudi and Skorpion due to influence acid supplies by the
time the OCP comes into commissioning. Utility of a nearby rail line may also
improve economics of shipping acid from South Africa via Walvis Bay.

e Environmental: the OCP currently has a valid Environmental Clearance Certificate
from the MET until May 2021, which permits commercial exploration and mining
under the previously proposed small-scale oxide development project. While it is not
required to undertake any additional regulatory environmental work, it may be
advisable to commission baseline studies in anticipation of renewal.
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3. Regional Exploration

There may be merit of further investigation into the larger exploration potential held within
the Exploration Licence based on the existing geological data available. Multiple
geochemical anomalies have been identified, but never pursued, over the larger Ekuja Dome
setting of the Omitiomire deposit.
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Regional Copper Anomalies in Soils

An IP study would take around 3 — 4 months to conduct but requires additional land access
agreements with the neighbouring farms and dismantling of any wire fences on the
intended survey area. Any survey would be contingent on an updated Environmental
Clearance Certificate and extension of EPL 3589 (application for which has been lodged)

Further Additional Programme

Assuming satisfactory results from the Initial 2021 Programme and no new restrictions
being introduced which may affect operations, Omico would look to proceed with the full
development plan to BFS up to NI 43-101 standards with the objective of delivering the
study by early 2023.

The key elements of the outstanding programme remain:

o A 50 x50m drill spacing programme of around 180 new holes to a depth of around
200m (22 - 25,000m of RC drilling)
Updated resource statement
Completion of mine plan, process design and infrastructural studies
Geotechnical drilling

The budget for the full BFS programme is currently estimated to around USD6.0 million
(including work to date and the Initial 2021 Programme). The budget is fully funded
through Greenstone.
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6.3 Auricula Exploration leases

IBML’s wholly owned subsidiary, AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd, holds a 10% interest in two
project areas south of Cobar in western NSW. The project areas have historic mine workings
and are considered to have good potential for discovery of copper-gold

resources. Exploration is being conducted by Cobar Management Pty Ltd (CMPL’), a
subsidiary of Glencore.
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Location of AuriCula’s project areas

The mineralisation within the Shuttleton Project is interpreted to represent a
metamorphosed VHMS deposit which is characterised by recrystallised and mechanically
remobilised en-echelon sulphide lenses. The mineralisation is reported to be localised in
high strain zones in proximity to early Devonian volcanic and porphyritic intrusive rocks.
The Crowl Creek and South Shuttleton workings lie along a north trending shear plane
which varies in width up to 250 m and can be traced for up to 5km along strike. The target
zone is approximately 50m wide. Within the shear plane, the rocks are highly deformed and
variably altered. On the macro-scale the shear plane separates sandstones on the western
side from a package of sandstone, slate and volcanic units to the east.

The Mount Hope Project sits immediately adjacent to a flexure in the Sugarloaf Fault, where
the Sugarloaf Fault bifurcates to form a fault wedge of which the western segment is known
as the Great Central Fault. To the east, the Early Devonian Broken Range group consists of
sandstone and siltstone units dipping to the west featuring tight folds adjacent to the fault.
To the west of the fault lies the volcanic rocks of the Mount Halfway and Ambone Volcanics
which comprise part of the Mount Hope Group. The rocks dip steeply east. Within the
faulting plane felsic tuffs, lavas and associated sediments of the Regina Volcanics occur as
slivers, which are variably sheared and altered.
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6.4 Auricula schedule

The latest work on the leases include:
At Shuttleton:

¢ Completed logging and sampling SH0006 & SH0007 diamond drill holes;
e Core processing including structural interpretation; and

e Data entry and validation.
Those two holes had previously intersected weak copper mineralisation which could
indicate proximity to a more substantial copper body. An application for tenement renewal
was lodged in March 2020 and has been granted.

No field work was carried out on Mt Hope EL6907 during the year.

Recently, Glencore flew airborne magnetic & radiometric survey over both properties; we

are awaiting the results.
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7. RISK FACTORS

7.1 Introduction

The Shares offered under this Offer Information Statement are considered highly
speculative. An investment in the Company is not risk free and the Directors strongly
recommend potential investors to consider the risk factors described below, together with
information contained elsewhere in this Offer Information Statement, before deciding
whether to apply for Shares and to consult their professional advisers before deciding
whether to apply for Shares pursuant to this Offer Information Statement.

There are specific risks which relate directly to the Company’s business. In addition, there
are other general risks, many of which are largely beyond the control of the Company and
the Directors. The risks identified in this section, or other risk factors, may have a material
impact on the financial performance of the Company and the value of the Shares.

The following is not intended to be an exhaustive list of the risk factors to which the
Company is exposed.

7.2 Key risks

A summary of some key risks relevant to the Company have been set out in section 4.5 of
this Offer Information Statement. Those key risks have been identified as:

a. exploration risks;
b. mineral resource risk;
c. development and production risks;
d. risks of operating in another country;
e. regulatory risks;
f.  commodity prices risks;
g. future funding risks;
COVID-19;
i.  liquidity risks;

j.  investment is speculative.
7.3 Industry specific risks

a. Exploration risks

The Company’s exploration licences are at various stages of exploration, and
potential investors should understand that mineral exploration is a high-risk
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undertaking. There can be no assurance that exploration of these licences, or any
other tenements that may be acquired in the future, will result in the discovery of an
economic ore deposit.

The future exploration activities of the Company may be affected by a range of
factors including geological conditions, limitations on activities due to seasonal
weather patterns, unanticipated operational and technical difficulties, industrial and
environmental accidents, local title processes, changing government regulations and
many other factors beyond the control of the Company.

Mineral Resources risk

The Auricula projects do not currently have any Mineral Resources defined in
accordance with a professional code such as the Australasian Code for Reporting of
Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code). An
Exploration Target is a statement or estimate of the exploration potential of a mineral
deposit in a defined geological setting where the statement or estimate, quoted as a
range of tonnes and a range of grade, relates to mineralisation for which there has
been insufficient exploration to estimate a Mineral Resource. The potential quantity
and grade of the Exploration Target is conceptual in nature, there has been
insufficient exploration to estimate a Mineral Resource and it is uncertain if further
exploration will result in the estimation of a Mineral Resource.

Development and production risks

Any future discovery may not be commercially viable or recoverable. For a wide
variety of reasons, not all discoveries are commercially viable and even if an
apparently viable deposit is identified, there is no guarantee that it can be
economically developed and exploited.

Risks of operating in another country

The Company's most significant opportunity is located in Namibia. The Company’s
operations are therefore subject to the laws and regulations of Namibia. Exploration,
development and mining activities may be affected by political stability and changes
to government regulations relating to the mining industry and foreign investment.
Adverse changes in these regulations may negatively affect the Company’s growth
plans and strategy. Operations may also be affected by changes to mining laws,
environmental laws, income and other taxes and exchange controls. The success of
the Company is dependent on the stability of the political, economic and legal
situation in Namibia. Any change in legislation could have an adverse effect on the
Company.

Regulatory risks

The Company's operations require approvals from Australian and Namibian
regulatory authorities which may not be forthcoming, either at all or in a timely
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manner, or which may not be able to be obtained on terms acceptable to the
Company. The Company cannot guarantee that any or all requisite approvals will be
obtained. A failure to obtain any approval would mean that the Company may be
restricted, either in part or absolutely, from exploration, development and mining
activities.

f. Commodity prices risks

Commodity prices, including copper and gold, can fluctuate rapidly and are affected
by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company. These factors include
world demand for commodities, production cost levels, macroeconomic factors such
as expectations regarding inflation, interest rates and global and regional demand
for, and supply of, commodities as well as general global economic conditions. These
factors may have an adverse effect on the Company’s activities as well as the
Company’s ability to fund those activities.

7.4 General Risks

g. Liquidity risks

Intending subscribers should recognise that the Company is not listed on a stock
exchange and there is no secondary market in existence for IBML Shares. Shareholders
may not be able to readily sell their Shares to achieve a sale price equivalent to their
initial investment and may not be able to sell their Shares at all.

h. Investment risks generally

Investment is subject to risks of a general nature relating to investment in shares and
securities and especially where the company in which the investment is made has a
small market capitalisation, such as the case with the Company. The Company is not
currently listed on a stock exchange and there is no assurance that acceptable market
conditions will prevail to enable the Company to achieve a stock exchange listing.
Trading in unlisted company shares is more difficult than trading in shares in a listed
company.

i. Economic conditions
Changes in world and domestic economic conditions may adversely affect the
financial performance of the Company. Factors such as inflation, currency

fluctuations, interest rates, industrial disruption and economic growth may
adversely impact on the Company’s activities.
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General economic conditions, movements in interest and inflation rates and currency
exchange rates may have an adverse effect on the Company’s activities as well the
Company’s ability to fund those activities.

Future funding risks

The Company has no income producing assets and will generate losses for the
foreseeable future. In order to proceed with the oversight and management of any
project, the Company is likely to be required to raise additional equity or debt capital
in the future. There is no assurance that it will be able to raise capital or debt when it
is required or that the terms associated with providing such capital or debt will be
satisfactory to the Company, which would mean that the Company may be
restricted, either in part or absolutely, from exploration, development and mining
activities.

Any additional equity funding will dilute existing Shareholders. Also, no guarantee
or assurance can be given as to when a project can be developed to the stage where it
will generate cash flow. As such, a project would be dependent on many factors,
including exploration success, subsequent development, commissioning, and
operational performance.

Reliance on key personnel

The responsibility of overseeing the day-to-day operations and the strategic
management of the Company depends substantially on its Directors and small
management team. The continued involvement of the Directors, key employees and
consultants is not assured. The loss of their services to the Company may have a
material adverse effect on the performance of the Company pending replacements
being identified and retained by the Company.

Shareholder voting power

Mr Rui Liu’s related parties Rui King Resources Limited and Heilongjiang Resources
Investment Co Ltd currently hold voting power in the Company of approximately
27.35%.

West Minerals Pty Ltd, a related party of Mr Zhehong Luo and Mr Qiang Chen
currently holds voting power in the Company of approximately 16.71%.

If Eligible Shareholders do not take up their Entitlements or subscribe for the full
amount of the Offer, the Underwriters are required, in accordance with the
underwriting agreement, to acquire the shortfall up to a maximum subscription
amount of $600,000.

As set out in section 4.17 of this Offer Information Statement, entities related to
and/or controlled by Mr Liu (including the Underwriters) could, if no other Eligible
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Shareholders take up any of their Entitlement, hold voting power in the Company of
approximately 32.25%.

As set out in section 4.17 of this Offer Information Statement, entities related to
and/or controlled by Mr Zhehong Luo and Mr Qiang Chen (including the
Underwriters) could, if no other Eligible Shareholders take up any of their
Entitlement, hold voting power in the Company of approximately20.65%.

. Underwriter risk

While the Directors believe that the Underwriters have the desire, financial capacity
and ability to perform their obligations under the underwriting agreement, the
Underwriters may not ultimately acquire any shortfall of Shares not taken up by the
Eligible Shareholders. This would leave the Company with a shortfall of funds and
little hope of implementing its business plan. It is unlikely the Company will have
sufficient funding to pursue the Underwriters if they fail to perform their obligations
under the underwriting agreement.

. Investment is speculative

The above list of risk factors ought not to be taken as exhaustive of the risks faced by
the Company or by investors in the Company. The above factors, and others not
specifically referred to above, may in the future materially affect the financial
performance of the Company and the value of the Shares offered under this Offer
Information Statement. Therefore, the Shares to be issued pursuant to this Offer
Information Statement carry no guarantee with respect to the payment of dividends,
returns of capital or the market value of those Shares.

Potential investors should consider that an investment in the Company is speculative
and should consult their professional advisers before deciding whether to apply for
the Shares offered under this Offer Information Statement.
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8. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

8.1 Introduction

This section contains the historical financial information and a pro-forma balance sheet of
the Company (the Financial Information) that the Directors consider relevant to investors.
The Financial Information is presented in an abbreviated form and does not contain all the
disclosures that are usually contained in an annual report prepared in accordance with the
Corporations Act. The Financial Information has been prepared in accordance with the
recognition and measurement principles of applicable Australian Accounting Standards
(AASB).

The Financial Information in this section comprises:

(a) the Historical Financial Information, being:
i.  audited Consolidated Statements of Profit or Loss and Other
ii. ~ Comprehensive Income for the 12 month period ended 30 June 2020 and 2019
comparatives;
iii.  audited Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 and
2019 comparatives;
iv.  audited Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity for the 12 month
period ended 30 June 2020 and 2019 comparatives;
v.  audited Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the 12 month period
ended 30 June 2020 and 2019 comparatives;
vi.  audited Notes to the Financial Statements for the 12 month period ended 30
June 2020; and
vii.  a Directors” Declaration in relation to the Historical Financial Information as
at 30 June 2020.

(b) A Pro-forma Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020 prepared based on
the audited Consolidated Statement of Financial Position of the Company as at 30
June 2020 and adjusted for the transactions resulting from the Offer pursuant to this
Offer Information Statement.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Pro-forma
Statement of Financial Position, including the assumptions on which the Pro-forma
Statement of Financial Position is based. The Directors' best estimate assumptions are subject
to uncertainties and contingencies which are beyond the control of the Directors.
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8.2 30 June 2020 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Pro-forma Statement

of Financial Position

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Security deposits

Right od use asset

Total non-current assets
Total assets

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
lease liabilities
Short-term provisions
Borrowings

Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Issued Capital
Accumulated losses
Total equity

30 June Pro-forma Pro-forma
2020 Adjustments
$ $ $
409,788 1,423,000 1,832,788
409,788 1,423,000 1,832,788
15,056 - 15,056
22,818 - 22,818
37,874 - 37,874
447,662 1,423,000 1,870,662
235,109 - 235,109
23,460 - 23,460
4,142 - 4,142
553,852 - 553,852
816,563 - 816,563
625,891 - 625,891
625,891 - 625,891
1,442,454 - 1,442,454
(994,792) 1,423,000 428,208
69,096,820 1,423,000 70,519,820
(70,091,612) - (70,091,612)
(994,792) 1,423,000 428,208

The 30 June 2020 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is the Company’s audited
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at that date. The Company’s audited
financial report for the 12 month period ended 30 June 2020 and 2019 comparatives is set out
in section 8.3 of this Offer Information Statement. The Pro-forma Statement of Financial
Position has been prepared based on the audited Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position of the Company as at 30 June 2020 and adjusted for the transactions resulting from
the Offer pursuant to this Offer Information Statement as follows:

o The issue of 320,786,478 Shares at $0.0045 each to raise $1,450,000 pursuant to the

Offer; and

e Estimated costs of the Offer of $27,000.
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8.3 Audited financial report for the 12 month period ended 30 June 2020
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,

Az Chairman of the Board of Directors of Internaticnal Base Metals Limited (IBML) | present te you, on behalf
of the Beard, the Coempany's Annual Report for 30th June 2020 As a first course of business, the [BWML
Board trusts all Shareholders, their families and friends are weathering the burden that COVID-19 has placed
upen everybody.

The lazt financial year has really been a consolidation, and finalisation of those events highlighted in last
year's Annual Repert. Frem last year's repert you are aware that Macquarie Geld Limited (MGL) and its
100% zubzidiary Challenger Mines Pty Ltd (Challenger) were placed inte receivership as a result of failed
negotiaticns with the existing debtholders to refinance those two entities. Hogan Sprowles, the Receiver
appointed by IBML, finalized the receivership process by successfully =elling Challenger to 30 Resources
Limited on 15th May 2020 and retired as the receivers of Challenger Mines on the same day. Settlement
Agreements with all debtholders and distribution of funds occurred on June 13%th with Hogan Sprowles
retiring a= Receiver of MGL on July 20th, 2020.

Whilzt the MGL/Challenger experience was not by any means a pesitive event for IBWL the matter is now
clozed, and we hope to lock toward a more positive future regarding the Company's other assets. MGL
remains a 100% subsidiary of IBML but with the permissien of the Australian Securities and Investments
Comrission (ASIC) we privatised MGL s0 it is no lenger a Public Company. This was done to reduce costs
te IBML.

Reqarding Craton Mining and Exploration Pty Ltd (Craton); IBML successfully completed a transaction with
Greenstone Menture Capital LP (GVYC), a Lenden based specialist Private Equity Fund. The transaction
aszures the Bankable Feasibility Study (BFS) for the development of Craton's Omitiemire Copper project is
fully funded. IBML's interest in Craton is now held through a Mauritian Jeint Venture vehicle, Omice Copper
Limited (Cmice), which is cwned 46 3% by IBML and 53.¥% by GVC both having two Beard seats on the
Omico Board.

IBML and GWC, through Cmice, are werking as expediticusly as pessible to complete the BFS. This had
originally been planned for the end of 2021 calendar year, however the impact of COVWID-19 has meant a
more realistic target is now mid to late 2022 The delay has principally been driven by the inability to move
equipment and labour between Scuth Africa and Namibia due to COVID-13 lockdowns'. Az at the time of
writing those cross border, and inter province moverment restrictions in Mamibia, have been lifted but due to
the impending =tart of the wet season the drilling campaign will not start until the end of the wet season
approximately March next year. We are in discussion with GVC, with both parties being hopeful, to augment
the original drill prograrmme with some additional expleration drilling as through reinterpretation of historical
geclogical data there iz understanding that the Chmitiemire project may be able to be expanded significantly
beyond the aszumned 25, 000tpa for 20 years.

IBML's remaining assets are "10% interests in two copper Expleration Leases in the Cobar district of NSW
held though AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd (NSW). AuriCula i= a 100% subsidiary of [BML.

The recent working capital financing of IBML has been through supporive shareholders who we thank
deeply for their ongoing suppert. During the peried that MGL was in Receivership it was impossible to glean
additional third-party funding from ‘the market' due to the uncerainty around that process. During the 2015
20 financial year the Board organised a secured lean (AUDS00, 000} and a Convertible Mote (ALDG00,000)
from varicus shareholders. The Board believes these arrangements to be on arms-length commercial terms
which have been disclosed via cur reperting through the IBML website. Whilst not technically within the 30
June 2020 pericd we have recently renegotiated the maturity date on the secured lean for an additional 12
menths on the same terms as the original loan; the maturity date is now February 2022,

With the MGL Receivership now completed IBML will explore additicnallalternate financing options should
the market be receptive. As is prudent IBML has alsc managed expenses with significant reductions in costs,
particularly labour, having been enacted.

Finally, | thank the Beard, subsidiary Boards, and employees for their ongeing commitment to the 1BML
group of companies.

Hugh Thomas - Chairman

ABM: 73163 372635 IBML Annual Report 2120 | 4
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Review of Operations

Introduction

Craton Mining and Exploration [Pty} Ltd {(Namibia}

In the FY¥Z019 annual report we announced we had been granted the Mining Licence (ML137) covering the
Chrnitiomire copper resource. As a result of the granting of ML137, IBML and Craten were in a8 position to be
able to appreach the market for financing. Te assist we also strengthened the Craton Beard with the
appointment of Mr Primus Hango: Primus has a distinguizhed commercial background in Mamibia having
been Chairman of the Mamibian Stoeck Exchange and CEC of the Mamibian Govermnment Pensicon fund.

M the time one of our plans was to seek an investor who was prepared to fund a BFS which explered the full
opportunity of the oxidelzulphide deposits.

Your Board is delighted that IBML has finalized the documentation that would provide the Company with
exploration funding through Greenstone Yenture Capital, a8 UK based Private Equity fund that specialises in
Mining in December 2019, COn 20 December 20K3 IBML =igned agreement with Greenstone Venture Capital
LP. Al Craten issued shares previcusly held by IBML have been sold to a new entity Ctmice Copper Ltd
(Mauritius) with the shares in thiz entity held 53.7% by Greenstone and 46.3% by IBML.

The fund has the right, zubject to an agreed expenditure and timetable, to retain itz zhareholding in Cmico
return for completing a BFS with a minimum expenditure of USD5.0m. At the conclusion of the BFS, and
assuming it meets the required future investrnent hurdles, IBML has the option to either zell itz equity in
Omice te the Fund for USDY.5m plus a "1.5% smelting royalty or invest in the future project to the extent of its
aquity helding.

Az a condition of ML197 Craton must facilitate a 5% Equity Partner in Craton who meets the Indigenous
Owners Requirement. We had got the approval from MINERALS AMCILLARY RIGHTS COMMISSION
MARC) that Craton Foundation (wwwe. cratenfoundation. com) qualifies. We believe this would be a woenderful
outcoeme that the Charitable Foundation established in 2011 was the benefactor of the 5% equity and it
continues our histery of a streng Corporate Secial Respensibility Pregramme (CSR).

Macquarie Gold Limited and subsidiary Challenger Mines Pty Ltd (N SW)

In early 2013, IBML and MGL agreed to 8 merger, making MGL a wholly-owned subsidiary of IBML. During
the reporting peried Adelong Gold Preject remained on a care-and-maintenance basis pending completion of
a therough review of the operatien. Macquarie Gold had been endeavouring to work with the Secured debt
holders (including IBML) to find a selution to repay the debt holders which we believed would have seen the
secured debt helders repaid in full but unfertunately on a deferred basiz. Whilst Macquarie Geld had been
renegotiating in good faith, and had agreed acceptable terms with several of the debt holders, Ferromin Pty
Ltd ATF Ambler Family Trust chose to exercise its right to appoint a receiver. Therefore Macquarie Geld was
placed in Receivership on 22 March 201 3. IBML subsequently al=zc appointed a Receiver on 25 March 2019
IBML appeinted the firm Hegan Sprowles who has contrelled the assets since the appointment date. As a
result of this appeintrnent and the less of control, MGL and its subszidiary ChL have been deconsolidated.

On 15 May 2020 Hegan Sprowles has settled the Asset and Share Sale Deed with 3D Rescurces Limited
[DDD) of sale of Challenger Mines Pty Ltd. And Hogan Sprowles retired a5 Receivers and Managers
appointed over the assets of Challenger Mines on the same date. Payments were made from the settlement
proceeds and distriboted to debt helders on 19 June 2020

On 20 July 2020 Hegan Sprowles retired as Receivers and Managers of Macquarie Geld Limited.
AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd [NSW)}

Through itz whelly-ewned subsidiary, AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd, IBML has a 10% interest in two exploration
licences in the Cobar district of MSW.

Company Strategy
In Mamibia, the pricrities are:

v 1o assist the UK Private Equity fund in whatever way possible in working towards the completion of
the BFS
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In regard to MGL the Company's intentions are:

v tocontinue te explore options for IBVL as the owner of the equity in MGL

IBML will remain a passive minority partner in the exploration pregrams in the Cobar District of NSW.
The IBML Board will retain close control on expenditure.

IBML is currenthy explering future financing eptions to assure the Company is funded.

Craton Mining & Exploration (Pty) Ltd (‘Craton’)

Craton - Background

After the agreement with Greenstone Venture Capital, IBML's owning Craten via a Mauritian entity by holding
46.3%, Omice Copper Limited. Craten Mining and Expleration (Pty) Ltd ("Craten'), helds the Omitiemire
copper deposit in central Mamibia. Drilling by the Company has identified a JORC Indicated and Inferred
resource of 137 millien tennes ('Mt") of ore at 0.54% Cu for 740,000 t contained copper at a 0.25% Cu cut-off
grade (Bloy, August 20140

Az a result of the UK Private Equity deal menticned above, a BFS will be prepared for the large project
bazed on the deeper sulphide copper resource. This rescurce was the subject of a Preliminary Feasibility
Study in 201 0 which was revised in 20115

AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd

Background

Through itz whelly-ewned subsidiary, AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd, IBML has a 10% interest in two expleration
icences in the Cobar district of NSW - ELE223 Shuttleton and ELE90V Mount Hope. The other 30% interest
% held by subsidiaries of Glencore Australia.

During the year, the following werk was carried out in Shuttleton ELEZ2 3

v Completed logging and sampling SHOO00S & SHODO0Y diamend drill holes;
v Core processing including structural interpretation; and
v Data entry and validation.

Those two holes had previously intersected weak copper mineralization which could indicate proximity to a
more substantial copper body. An application for tenement renewal was lodged in March 20200

Mo field work was carried cut on Mt Hope ELBS0T during the year.

During FY 2021, Glencere plans te fly an airberne magnetic & radiemetric sunvey over both properties.

Competent Person

Dr Ken Maiden, a Director of International Baze Metals Limited, compiled the geclegical technical aspects of
this report. Or Maiden i= a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientistz and a Fellow of the
Australazian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. He has zufficient experience te qualify as a Competent
Person as defined in the 2002 editicn of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral
Resources and Ore Reserves”. Dr Maiden cenzents to the inclusicn of the matters in the ferm and context in
which they appear and takes responsibility for data quality.
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Mineral Tenements

Lizcggge Name Area [km? Expiry Date Status
Citiomire Project
[Craton}
ML 197 Omitiomire 29 km? 06-03-2036 Granted
EPL 3589 Ekuja 735 km? 13022021 Granted
AuriCula Mines J¥
Projects
EL 6223 Shuttleton 13 units 05-04-2020(Renewal Application Submitted) | JV with CMPL
EL 5307 Wt Hope 23 units 11-10-2 021 J¥ with CMPL

Mote: MSW Exploration Licences: a “unit” is an area of 1 Minute of Latitude x 1 Minute of Lengitude.

Abbreviations

Qu

DFsS

EL

EFL
Fr2015
at

Jv

km, km?

KL
MIME

NS WY
PFS
pm
SHIEW
1, Mt
pa, tpm

Capper (chemical symbal}

Definitive feasibility study

Explaration Licence [MNSW)

Exclusive Prospecting Licence (Mamibia)
Financial vear ended 30 June 2015
Grams pertonne (= ppm}

Jaint wentura

Kilometres, square kikmetres

Metres

Mining Licence

Ministry of Mines and Energy (MNamibia}
Mamibian Dallars

few Sauth Wales

Pre-feasibility sunsey

Rarts per millian

Solvent extraction — electra-winning (ore processing methad}
Tannas, millian tonnas

Tonnes per annum, tonnes per manth
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Personnel, OH& S, Environment and Community
Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)

IBML recegnises its duty te ensure the health and safety of all employees, consultants and visitors:
v Wizible support and commitment to safety from the board and senior management
v Raising awareness of health and =afety in the workforce
» Promoting a culture of health and =safety by assigning responsibilities and powers to ensure
adherence to health and safety standards and legislaticn
v Suitable training for health and safety representatives and staff to improve their ability to identify
hazards and control OHSE risks
v Structured risk identification process for all work areas
v Commitment to rect cause investigations and reporting
v Maintaining records and statistics on incidents, accidents and injuries.
Initiatives undertaken to ensure the health and safety of employees:
v Actively supporting and promoting a healthy lifestyle by offering free annual preventative medical
BCIEEing
v Encouraging physical activity and gocd nutrition
v Daily toolbox talks
v Training
v Relating an unblemished health and =safety record to annual performance assessments.
IBML iz proud of the fact that no lost time injuries cccurred during the past year.

Our People

IBML believes in fostering diversity by promoting equal oppoerunity. The teams censist of pecple frem
different backgrounds, worldviews and beliefs; each contributing towards the attainment of company geals.
We support and motivate cur empleyees within an established organizational structure, to ensure that
changes to company strategies ccour as smocthly as poessible.

All employees are viewed as assets. |IBML appreciates its employees’ skills and abilities. In additicn to basic
remuneration, IBML remuneration structure recegnises dedication and perfermance which contribute towards
continued company achievement.

The company believes in:
v Promoting cur values
v Respecting, trusting and supperting all employees
v Creating a pesitive work environment
v Commitment to a safe and healthy work environment
v Offering interesting and challenging tasks
v Offering ongoing developrment and training
v Paying performance-bazed bonuszes
v Company contributiens for medical aid and retirement fund membership.

Environmental Regulations
The Group's operations are subject to significant envirenmental and other regulatiens underthe laws of the
Australian Commomwealth, the State of New Scuth Wales and the Republic of Namibia. The Group has a
policy of engaging appropriately experienced contractors and censultantz. There have been no reporns of
breaches of envirenmental regulations in the financial year and at the date of this report.
Inits exploration and mining activities, IBML acknowledges itz duties in envirenmental protection:
v Minimize the extent and impact of disturbed areas and rehabilitate them as required.
v Monitor the operations te ensure compliance with accepted envirenmental standards and licence
cenditions.
v Monitor the latest developments in environmental management and technology and apply new
principles and techniques as required.
v Educate all members of the organizatien in the need for rezpenzible environmental management of
our operations.
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Community Relations
Craton Mining and Exploration [Pty} Ltd
Craton strives to maintain good relations with the property owners on whose farms its field teams cperate.

The field teams adhere to 8 Cede of Conduct te ensure that disruptions to farm activities are kept to a
rninirum.

Craten iz active in the Mamibian mining and exploration fraternity through its links with the Mamibian
Chamber of Mines, with the University of Namibia and itz staff members' activities in support of the
Geclegical Society of Namibia.

IBML suppoerts the initiatives of the Namibian Chamber of Mines and the Ministry of Mines and Energy in its
commitment to the Internatienal Council en Mining and Metals' Sustainable Development Principles and the
Voluntary Principles on Security and Human Rights (Meluntary Principles) in relation to security, risk
aszessment and the maintenance of human rights.

Inthe wider Mamibkian community, Craten makes an impact through the Craten Foundation.

The Craton Foundation

The Craton Feundation was registerad in 20710 as a trust with three founding trustees namely Kebus van
Graan, MD of Indenge Group of Coempanies, Elize Angula, atterney, and Flerence Kamena, an events
manager.

The Craten Foundaticn was officially launched on 25 September 2011, strategically timed te take place on
Mamibia's 'Day of the Child'. The launch was celebrated with a denaticn to the Clof Palme Primary School of
M$80,000. With these funds a new classroom, with space for 30 to 40 leamers, was built in 2012

The current trustees ars:

'-ilnnlil

Kobus van Graan Muargareth Gustavo

Mildy Samarie Ziggy Harimann

CEQ of Frans Indonge Owner/Manager Managing Director af Company Secretary
Group Cornerstore Joe Public (Py} | Cornastone Information
Lid Technology Services (Piy}
Lid

The Craten Foundatien believes in creating leng lasting relations within the Khomas region cemmunities and
regicns in which Craton Mining and Expleration operates. The communities become friends of the
Foundatien.

Through itz good works, the Foundation belisves by assisting several communities, feundatiens are laid for
developrnent, upliftment and progress.

The Craten Foundation can be found via their website: http-/fwerw _cratonfoundation. com
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BML Investments
Macquarie Gold Limited — Corporate

Az disclozed under 'Review of Operations' Macquarie Gold and its fully owned subsidiary Challenger Mines
Pty Ltd were placed in Receivership on 22 March 2013 IBKML subzequently alzo appeinted a Receiver on 25
Warch 2019

The Board of MGL now comprizes one Directer namely Mr Qiang Chen. The Company Secretary iz Mr.John
Stone.

Challenger Mines were seld te 30 Rescurces Limited on 15 May 2020 by Hegan Sprowles and Hegan
Sprowles retired az the receiver of Challenger Mines on the zame date. Hogan Sprowles resigned as
receiver of Macquarie Geld Ltd on 20 July 2020

Umico Copper Limited

Accerding to the agreement with Greenstone VYenture Capital, 1BML owns 46 3% of Omice Copper Limited
which i= based in Maurtius. The rest 53.7% of Omico Copper is owned by Greenstene Yenture Capital.
Craten Mining and Exploration is owned by Omice Copper (95%) and Craten Foundation (5%) Structure is
isted below.

Az previously reported, during 2016, Craten recefved a letter from the MNamibian Ministry of Mine= and
Energy ('MME") stating its Preparedness to Grant a Mining Licence (ML137) covering the Cmitiomire Project
ared, once cerain terms and conditions had been met. Thoze conditiens included making a minimum 5%
equity shareheolding available to approved Mamibian citizens or companies (Craten Feundation)

ESR
=
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Zamia Metals Limited {(IBML 2%)

Zamia Metalzs Limited ("Zamia') (ASX: ZGM), through its whelly-owned subsidiary Zamia Resources Pty Ltd,
holds a portfolic of Exploration Permits for Minerals (EPMsz) in the Clerment District of central Queensland.
Thiz district is part of an established geld province prospective for geld, copper and other metals including
rlybdenurm.

Mo field exploration activity has taken place over the past year and the company has been pursuing an
acquisitien and a capital raising.

The company's shares are currently suspended on the ASX.

Further Informaticn on Zamia and itz projects can be found at www.zamia. com.au.

WestStar Industrial Limited (W3I) (IBML 0.02%)

The Company was previcusly invelved in mineral exploration but with the sale of shares in Copper Range
and the acquisitien of Precast Australia Pty Ltd., a Western Australian buziness involved in the manufacture
of precast coencrete preducts, this has resulted in a significant change in the nature of the Company's main
business activity from mineral exploration and rescurce investment te the manufacture of precast concrete
products.

Firstwave Cloud Technology Limited (FCT) {IBML 0.02%)

IBML has 86 shares in Firstwave Cloud Technology Limited, received as an in specie distribution from
Antares Mining Limited. The company's principal business activities are the development and sale of internet
security software and related professicnal services to business and enterprises.
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Corporate Governance Statement

Internaticnal Base Metals Limited and the Beard are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest
standards of corporate governance. Although the Cempanyis not listed it has decided in its disclesure policy
te adopt the ASX Corporate Govemnance Principles and Recommendation (3rd edition) (CGPR) published by
the ASX Corpeorate Govemance.

The 2020 corperate governance statement is dated as at 30 June 2020 and reflects the corporate
governance practices in place during the 2020 financial year. The corperate governance staternent was
appreved by the Board on 20 June 2020, A description of the group's current corporate governance practices
T =et out in the group's corporate  gowvernance  statement  which can be  viewed at
fwww. interbazemetals.com).
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Directors’ Report

Your Directors prezent their report on the consclidated entity (referred to hereafter as the 'Group') consisting
of Internaticnal Base Metals Limited (IBML') and the entities it contrelled at the end of or during the year
ended 30 June 2020

Dhrectors

The names of the Directors in office at any time during, or since the end of, the year and centinue in office at
the date of this report unless otherwise stated:

Mr Hugh Ian Thomas

Executive Chairman

Qualilications: BA, Grad Dip Finance,

Cxperience: Hugh has had significant experience in the resources sector as a company

directer, senior financial executive and investment banker working throughout the
Asian region including China as well as parts of Africa. He was based in Hong
Kong for several years in senior positions with JP WMorgan and Mergan Stanley,
returning to Australia in 20101 te take up a senior position with Scuth African
investrnent bank, Investec, in Sydney. Since 2014 Hugh has werked as an
independent investment banker and company director based in South East Asia.

Intevest in sharves: 13,803 963 ordinary shares hold indirectly threugh Tamerlane Group Limited

D Kenneth John Maiden

Non-Executive Director

Qualifications: BSe, PhD

Cxperience: Ken has had more than 40 years professional experience - a= an exploration
geolegist with major resource companies (CSR and MIM), as an academic
(University of the Witwatersrand, Jehannesburg) and as a mineral expleration
conzultant. He has participated in successful mineral exploration pregrammes in
Australia, southern Africa and Indoenesia. Ken has previcusly established mineral
exploration companies in Scuthern Africa, South Australia and Queensland, and is
g feunding Directer of Internaticnal Baze Metals Limited.

fnterest in shares: 10,613,001 ordinary shares

Nr Rui Liu

Non-Executive Director

Qualitications: BSc

Cxperfence: Rui Liu has worked in geclegy and the mineral industry since his graduation from

university in 1985, He became the Deputy Director of Heilongjiang Geclegy Mineral
Testing Application Research Institute in 1985 and later went te Botswana as
Deputy General Manager of CGC Botzwana Ce., Ltd. Rui Liu has been General
Wanager and Chairman of Heileng Group since 2005 He holds the positien of
Executive Deputy Chairman of the Heilengjiang Mining Industry Asseciation.

Special Chairrman of the Remuneration Coemmittee and a Member of the Audit Committee

responsibilities:

Intevest in shaves: 193 652,791 ordinary shares hold indirectly through Rui King Rescurces and
Heilengjiang Heilong Rescurces Investment Co Ltd
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Directors’

Mr Jinhua Wang

Report (continued)

Non-executive Director

Qualifications:
Experience:

Interest in shares:

Mr Zhehong Luo

BMin Eng, Master of Industrial Engineering

Mr Wang iz a Senicr Engineer and Deputy Director, Mining Aszociation of Zhejiang
Prowince, China.

Mr Wang has extensive experience in mining project development and marketing. In
2002, he established Hangzhou Kings Industry Co. Ltd, a cempany engaged in the
nvestment and management of flucrspar mines and the flucride chemical industry.
The company possesses the largest flucrspar reserves in China and is an industrial
leader.

42 500,000 ordinary shares hold indirectly through China Sun Industry Pty Ltd and
China Kings Rescurces Group Co Lid.

Non-executive Director

Qualifications:
Cxperience:

Interest in shares:

Mr (Hang Chen

BSc

Executive Directer of Hangzhou Hongeoheng Real Estate Co Ltd from 2005, During
thiz pericd the company built a high-grade office building, reaching a height of 150m.
Since 2009 he has been Chairman and Managing Directer of Qinghal West
Rezources Co Ltd and Chairman of Qinghal West Rare & Precious Metals Co Ltd.
Under his leadership, these companies have achieved a good reputation with
axcellent growth prozpects.

118,326,492 ordinary shares heold indirectly through West Minerals Pty Ltd.

Alternate Director to Zhehong Luo

Qualitications:
Experience:

Special
responsibilities:
Intevest in shares:

Mr Shilai Jiang
Experience:

Special
responsibilities:
Intevest in shares:

ABM: 73163 372635

BSc, MEc

Qiang Chen is Managing Director of West Minerals Pty Ltd, one of the Company's
largest zhareholders. Mr Chen, 8 resident of Perth, has extenzive experience in
internaticnal cemmaodities trading and private equity investment. In the 1990z he
was the Marketing Manager of China Metallurgical Import and Export Corporation.
Chairman of the Momination Committee and a Member of the Remuneration
Committes and the Audit Committee.

Jiang Shilai, iz a surveying and mapping engineer From 1957 to 1992, worked in
Kanlinbu Molybdenum Mine in Hangzhou and frem 2000 to 2008, he was engaged
in marketing management in Hangzhou Nobel Group Co., Ltd. respoensible for the
sales management of the Southwest regicn of Nobkel Group.

From 2009 te present, he has served as executive deputy general manager of
Qinghai West Rasources Co., Ltd. and Qinghai West Rare and Precicus Metals Co.,
Ltd., engaged in the management of mining enterprises.
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Mr Xianwu Deng

Alternate Director to Mr Jinhua Wang

Qualifications: Bachelor degree in Mining Enginesring at the University of Science & Technelegy
Beijing, China, CPA and an eccnomist

Experience: Currently he is the Chairman of the Board of Supervisors of China Kings Resources

Group Company Ltd., China
Interest in sharves: -

Company Secretary

Mr John Stone

Qualifications: B Ecen

Experience: John has owver 30 years' experience in the Australian and internaticnal corporate
marketz. He hazs been a director and company secretary for several private and
public listed companies.

Interest in 1,625,125 erdinary shares.

shares:

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

The following table sets out the number of Directers’ meetings held during the financial year and the number
of meetings attended by each Director while they were a Director. During the financial year, the Company
held 4 Board mestings, cne Audit Committee meetings, nil Nemination Committee and cne Remuneration
Committes meetings.

Full Meetings of Committees
meetings of
Directars
Auplit hamination Remuneratian

A B A B A B A B
MrHugh Thomas 4 4 - - - - 9 1
Dr Kanneth John Maiden 4 4 - - - - - -
Mr Rui Liu 4 Ll - - - - 1 1
Mr Jinhua Wang 4 - - - - - - -
MrZhehong Lus 4 - - - - - - -
Mr Qiang Chen as attemate for Mr Zhehong Lus 4 4 - - - - 1 1
Mr Xianwu Deng as akernats to MrJinhua Wang 4 - - - - - - -

A KNo. of meetings keld durhg the Ue the Director feid ofice of was & member of the cormitiee durihg he vear
& No. of meetings aiterded
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. - «
Directors’ Report (continued)

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the entity during the financial year was the continued exploration for econemic base
metals in Mamibia and raizing capital for potential new prejects to invest in.

Macquarie Geld was placed in Receivership on 22 March 203 IBML subsequently alsc appeinted a
Receiver on 25 March 2019, Az a result of thiz appeintment and the lozs of centrol, MGL and its subsidiary
CML hawve been deconsolidated. On 15 May 2020 Hegan Sprowles has settled the Aszet and Share Sale
Deed with 30 Reseurces Limited (DDD) of sale of Challenger Mines Pty Ltd. And Hegan Sprowles retired as
Receivers and Managers appeinted over the assets of Challenger Mines on the zame day. Payments ware
made from the settlement proceeds and distributed to debt holders on 19 June 2020, Hogan Sprowles
resigned as receiver of MGL on 20 July 2020

On 20 December 2019 IBML =igned agreement with Greenstone Venture Capital LP regarding Craton
Mining and Exploration (Pty) Ltd. All Cratoen issued shares previously held by IBML have been =old to a new
entity Crmice Copper Ltd (Mauritius) with the shares in thiz entity held 53.7% by Greenstone and 46.3% by
IBML.

The fund has the right, zukject to an agreed expenditure and timetable, to retain itz zhareholding in Cmico
return for completing 8 BFS with a minimum expenditure of USD5 0m. At the conclusion of the BFS, and
assuming it meets the required future investment hurdles, IBML has the option to either sell its equity in
Crnicoe to the Fund for USDY.5m plus a 1.5% smelting reyalty or inwest in the future project to the extent of its
equity holding.

Az a condition of ML197 Craton must facilitate a 5% Equity Partner in Craton who meets the Indigencus
Owners Requirement. We had got the approval from MINERALS AMCILLARY RIGHTS COMMISSION
MARC) that Craton Foundation (www. cratenfoundation. com) qualifies. We believe this would be a wenderful
outcome that the Charitable Foundation established in 2011 was the benefactor of the 5% equity and it
continues cur histery of a streng Corporate Secial Respensikility Programme (CSR)

There were no other changes in the Group's principal activities during the course of the financial year.
Dividends

Mo dividends have been declared in the 2020 financial year (20M% no dividend declared).

Review of Operaticns and Activities

Financial

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the conzolidated entity's net loss after taxation was $1,097, 276
(20195 3,152 D63

Exploration expenditure on Australian and Mamibian tenements in the 2020 financial year was $45,351
(20195295204} and was fully expensed, rather than capitalised.

The Directors believe that expensing, rather than capitalizing expleration expenditure is mere relevant to
understanding the Cermpany's financial pesitien and complies fully with AASE &

Exploration actvides

Areview of the Group's expleration activities in Mamibkia and Australia iz zet cut on pages 57
Share Issues

o capital was raizsed in the Z020 financial year.

Options

There are no cutstanding and unexpired optiens on ordinary shares

Loans

Borrowings were incurred by Macquarie Gold Limited, priorto the company becoeming a subsidiary of IBML in
January 2018

Failure to reach agreement with the lenders to extend the term of theze loans resulted in one of the
borrowers putting these MGL and its subsidiary Challenger Mines Pty Ltd into receivership. The =ale
preceads of CML by Hogan Sprowles with 30 Resources was AB39,715.91 which was distributed te IBML on
19 June 2020
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Directors’ Report (continued)

On 14 August 2019, agreements were signed with a related pary of Directer Mr Qiang Chen (Far Union Ltd)
and Directer Mr Rui Liv te advance leans totalling $0.5 million being $0.1 millien from Far Unien Ltd and $0.4
millizn frem W Liv. This ameount to be drawn down as required by the company giving notice to the lenders.
The maturity date of the leans is 18 menths frem the date the agreements were signed with interest at 13.5%
pa iz payable with the principal at maturity date. At the date of this report the loans have been fully drawn
down and interest accrued.

On 17 March 2020, a convertible note which amount is $0.6 million was issued te a related party, Rui King
Rezources from IBML. Interest iz calculated at a rate of 15% pa and payable on the last day of each &
menth anniversary either in cash orin shares. The notes have a maturity of 2 years. Rui King Resources
may iszue a conversion notice at any time after 18 moenths to convert the notes inte 63,931,250 ordinary
shares.

Investments in Listed and Unlisted Entities

IBML's investrent in Macquarie Geld Limited has baen fully impaired on the basis that the company was in
recaivership.

IBML's inwestment in Zamia hetals Limited (ZGM) has been fully impaired on the basis that the company's
shares are currently suspended on the ASX.

IBML has effectively lost control of Craten and as from 20 December 2019 and it will therefere not be
coensolidated in the financials of the Group. IBML's investment in Cmico Copper Ltd will be recorded as an
nvestment in an assoeciate.

Significant changes in state of affairs

In the opinien of the Directors, there were no =ignificant changes in the state of affairz of the censclidated
entity that cccurred during the peried not ctherwise disclosed on the his report or the financial report.

Likely developments and expected results of operations

Additional comments on likely and expected results of operations of the Group are included in this annual
report under the 'Review of Cperations’ on pages 57

Impact of COVID-19

The Group has implemented a number of processes in responze to the COVID-19 pandemic te ensure the
health and safety of employees and contracters and te aid in reducing the risk of transmizsien while =till
supporting an effective and preductive workforce. These include measures which support secial distancing,
restrict nen-essential travel, suppert staff wellbeing and include improved hygiene and cleaning protocols.
The impact on the activity of the Group has been minimal. The Group will continue to adopt best practice
protocols as the situation evolves to ensure the ongoing safety and wellbeing of employees and contractors.

After balance date events
Hegan Sprowles resigned as the receiver of MGL on 20 July 2020

The COVID-13 pandemic did net have any significant impact on the Group's operations during the year.
Subzequent to the end of the financial year, the pandemic and itz impact has continued to evolve with further
outbreaks resulting in leckdown restrictions in Wictoria, additional border closures between states, new
stimulus measzures (such as Jobkeeper 2.00 and many other items. |t iz therefore not practical to estimate
the potential impact, pesitive or negative, after reporting date.

COn the 24 Cctober 2020, the debt holders extended the maturity of the lean of $500 000 from 13 February
20271 te 13 February 2022

There are ne other matters or circurnstances that have arisen since the end of the financial year which has
significanthy affected, orwhich may significantly affect the operations of the conselidated entity, the results of
those operations, of the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future financial years. We will continue to
renitor the impact of COVID-19 on the Group's operations.

Envircnment regulations

The Conzolidated Entity's operations are presently subject te environmental regulation under the laws of
Australian state gowvernments, the Commomeealth of Australia and Republic of Mamibia. The Consolidated
Entity iz at all times in full envirenmental cempliance with these laws and the conditions of its exploration
licences.
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Remuneration Report (unaudited)

Names and positions held by consclidated and parent entity key management perscnnel in office
during the whole or since the end of the financial vear and up to the date of this repert ware:

Mr Hugh lan Thomas Executive Chairman

Dr Kenneth John Maiden Mon-executive Director — Technical and Chief Geclogist

Mr Rui Liu Men-executive Director

MrJinhua Wang Mon-executive Director

Mr Zhehong Lue Mon-executive Director

Wr Shilai Jiang Mon-executive Director (appointed 271 July 2020}

Wr Qiang Chen Alternate to Zhehong Lue

Mr Aideng ang Alternate to Rui Liv and General Manager Technical

Mr Xianwu Deng Alternate to Mr.inhua Wang

Mr Karl Hartmann Mon-executive Director, Craten Mining and Exploration (Pty) Ltd
(resigned in June 2020)

Mr Jehn Stone Company Secretary

Mr Barry F Meal Chief Financial Officer (resigned in February 2020}

Mrs Sigrid Hartrmann Company Secretary, Craten Mining and Exploration (Pty) Ltd

(resigned in September 2019

Remunerarion governance

The remuneration committes i a8 cemmittee of the beard. It iz primarly respensible fer making
recommendatiens to the board en:
v the over-arching executive remuneration framewscrk
v operation of the incentive plans which apply to executive directers and senior exscutives (the
aexecUtive team), including key performance indicaters and performance hurdles
v non-executive director fees.

Their objective is to ensure that remuneration policies and structures are fair and competitive and aligned
with the leng-term interests of the company.

Executive remuneration policy and framework

In determining executive remuneration, the beard aims te ensure that remuneration practices are:
competitive and reasenable, enabling the company te attract and retain key talent;

gligned to the company's strategic and business okbjectives and the creation of shareholder value,

transparent and easily understeed, and
acceptable to shareholders.

Key management persennel are entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangements and
te benefits at the dizcretion of the Beard.

Details of remuneration

The follewing benefits and payments represent the compenents of the current year and cemparative year
remuneration expenses for each member of KMP of the censelidated group. Such ameunts have been
calculated in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.
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Remuneration — key management personnel of the Group 2020

Short- Post-
term employment Share-based
benefits benefits payments
Lash,
salary
and fees Super- Termination
annuation ui Options benefit Total
* $ = ty-i i $ L3 $

Directars
M Hugh Themas! 260,000 - - - - 280,000
Dr Kenneth John Maiden? 41,385 - - - - 41,384
fr Rui Lio 3,33z - - - - 3,33z
Mr Qiiang Chen [Alernate to Zeheong Luz) 3335 - - - - 3338

Hig, 15k - - - - Hig, 1ok
Other Key Management Personnel
Mr arl Hatmann, Mon-Executive Dirsctort 26,5582 - - - - 26,552
Mr Aidong Yang, General Manager- Technical’ T3 - - - - T2
MrJohn Stone, Company Secretary 32832 - - - - 32832
Mr Bamy F Meal, Chief Financial Officer’! 73,320 - - - - 3320
Mrs Sigrid Hatmann, Company Secretany * 13 58 - - - - 10 58
Total Key Management Remuneration 458 542 - - - - 455 £42

1 Irciudes fees paid (o retated paries of key maragerment persormel

2 Hor-executive Director of cortroved erdity Crator Wdiking ard Expioration [Py ) Lid
3 Cormpany Secretany of controned ently Crator Minikg and Cxpioration [Fly) Lid

Ho caaf o hon-cash reruneralion, inoudihg share based payiients, were baid or pavable (o M Jinfive Wang, akd Wr Xianwu
Cerg dunirg the vear erded 30 Jure 2020 (20159:60)

Remuneration — key management personnel of the Group 2019

Short- Post-
term employment Share-based
benefits benefits payments
Lash,
salary
and fees Super- Termination
annuation Egquity Options benefit Total
$ $ $ L3 $
Directars

M Hugh Thomas! B B0 - - - - 3 500
Dr Kznnath John Maiden? 34,380 - - - - 34,380
Mr Rui Lio S G20 - - - - A 020
M Dennis Morton resigned 22 March 20181 26,880 - - - - 26,630
Mr Qiang Chen [Alternats to £ehong Luz) S G20 - - - - 30 20
5iHE, 544} - - - - 5k, 541}

Other Key Management Personnel
Mr Karl Hartmann, Mon-Executive Director® 1027 - - - - 162,017
Mr Aidong Yang, General Manager-Technical’ B D - - - - [ AR
IMr Jehn Stone, Company Secratany 57 &28 - - - - 57 822
Mr Bamy F Meal, Chief Financial Cfficer! 118,183 - - - - 118,183
Mrs Sigrid Hartmann, Company Secretany * 41,433 - - - - 41,433
Total Key Management Remuneration W3 ETM - - - - 387

1 includes fees paid o refaied parlies of Key Mahagerment personnel

2 Hor-executive Qirector of controved erdity Crator Miking ard Expioration [Fiy) Lid

3 Compahy Secretaty of controned ently Craton Minikhg ard Expioration (Fly) Lid

Ho casfy or rok-cash remureration, inoeding share based payments, were paid or payable o Mr wikfivg Wang, ard M Xianww
Cerg duning the year ended 30 June 20719 (2018:060)

Service Contracts

Remuneraticn and other terms of employment for Key Management Personnel of the Company and its fully
owned subsidiaries, are formalised in service agreements.
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The major provisions of the agreements are sat out below:

Name Term of agreement Base fees Termination Benefit
Hugh Themas, Remuneraticn Coemmittae Exscutive Chaiman package is -
Executive Chairman decision 28 September 2017 EPEG, W for P2,
and engaing
Barry F. Meal, CFO Contract 1 September 2615 A consulting fee of 8137 ph. plus Agreement may be taminated
and resigned in Feb 2024 CGET at any time by either party with
one month's notice.
John Stone, Company Contract 11 October 2015 and | A consulting fee of 72 p.h. Agreement may be teminatad
Secretary ongaing at any time by either party with
one month's notice.
Karl Hartmann, Craton Consutting contract from 1 & consulting fee of SE1 400 per Agreement may be tamminated
Exploration Managar Narch 2418 and resignad in day plus applicatle WAT. Consultant | at any time by aither party with
Juna 24620 guarantsed 3 minimum of fifteen one menth's notioe.
daysiquarter.
figgy Hamann, Craten | Consulting contract frem 7 A consulting fee of WEIS G per Agreemant may be terminated
Administrative Services Cotober 2046 and left in menth plus applicable WAT. at any time by either party with
Saptember 2018 Consultant guaranteed a minimum ong manth's notice.
of fiwve davs par month

Gther execunives (standard conmracts)

The Company may terminate the executive's employment agreement by providing four weeks written notice
of providing payment in lieu of the notice peried (bazed on the fixed component of the executive's
remuneration). The Coempany may terminate the contract at any time without notice if sericus misconduct

has ooourred.

Shareholdings of key management personnel

Balance at Received Other changes Balance at the end
start ofthe during the ouring the year of the year

year yedr as share

based

2} payments
Hugh Themas 13,803 883 - 13,843,883
Kennsth Maiden, MNon- exscutive Dirsctor 10,813,801 - - 10,613,86
Rui Liu 193,652,781 - - 183,652,781
Jinhua Wang AZ B 000 - - A2 500 OO
Zhehong Lus 118,326 452 - - 118,326 452
John Stone 1,822,125 - - 1222125
Karl Hartmann 1,862,179 - - 18682172
Sigrid Hartmann 223148 - - 283 148
352 666,607 - - 332 666 607
Balance at Received Other changes Balance at the end
start ofthe during the ouring the year of the year

year yedr 4 share

based

HHE payments
Hugh Themas 13,803,863 - 1384535683
kenneth Maidan, Men- executive Director 16,813,511 - - 108134601
Rui Liu 193,852,781 - - 183,652,791
Jinhua Wang AZ B GO0 - - A2 GO0 OO
Zhehang Lo 118,326,452 - - 118,326 452
John Stone 1,822,125 - - 1222125
Dennis Maorton ¥ 25 558 084 - (28 50E,004) -
Karl Hartmann 1,882,179 - - 1282179
Sigrid Hartmann 285146 - - 285148
353,068,503 [ 2% BEE,054) 382,566,657

¥ Mo kenger 3 KMP holding after resignation
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Cpuien holdings of key management personnel

Optiens may be issued to Directers and Cempany Executives as pant of their remuneration. The opticns are
nct iszued based on perfermance criteria and are izsued to all Directers and executives of the Company to
increase geal cengruence ameng Directors, executives and shareholders. Cplions are granted for no
coensideration and carry ne dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each optien is convertible inte one
ordinary share. Mo optiens were issued as remuneration during the reporting period.

Shares 1ssued on exercise of remuneration options

Mo shares were issued to key management persennel during the year or since the end of the year up to the
date of thiz report, as a result of the exercise of remuneration options.

Tapse of remuneration opticns

A the 30 June 2020 there were no KMP unexpired remuneration optiens on izsue (20109 Mil).

BJD OF BEMUNERATICIY REPORT (Unaudited)

Indemmifying and insurance of Dhrectors and officers

During or since the end of the previcus financial year, the Cempany has given an indemnity or entered into
an agreerment te indemnify, or paid or agreed te pay insurance premiums as follows:

The Company has paid premiums to insure all of the Directors of the Company as named above, the
Company Secretary Mrohn Stene, and all executive officers of the Company against any liability incurred
as such by Directors, the Company Secretary and executive officers to the extent pammitted by the
Corporations Act 2001, The contract of insurance prohibits disclesure of the nature of the liability and the
amount of the premium.

Procesdings on behalf of the Conpany

Mo person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Company or intervene in any
proceaedings to which the Cempany is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the
Company for all or any part of thoze proceedings.

The Company was not a party te any such proceadings during the year,

MNon-audit services

The company may decide to employ the Auditor on assignments additicnal to their statutory audit duties
where the Auditor's expertize and experience with the company andtor the group are important.

Mo such services were provided to the Company during the reperting peried.

Auditor’s independence declaration

The lead auditer's independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2020 has been received and is set
out on page 22 of the financial report.

e

-

J

{ / N
\ __‘/
Signed in accoerdance with a reselution of the Board of Directors

Hugh Themas
Chairman

Sydney, 6 MNovember 2020

ABM: 73163 372635 IBML Annual Report 202¢ | 21

64




o GrantThornton

Lawal 17, 382 Kam Sraat
Sydnay MEW 2000

Sorrespondence 1o
Locked Bag G800
B Posi Cffice
Sydnay MW 1230

T #21 2 BI5T 2400

F #31 25250 4445

E info.nswe au g com

W wmrw grantihornion.com.au

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

To the Diractors of International Base Metals Limited

In acoordance with the requirements of section 207G of the Carporations Act 2001, as lead auditar far the audit of Internatianal
Bage Metals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, | declare that, ta the best of my kKnowledgea and belief, there have been:

a no contrenventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Carparations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

b no contrenentions of any applicable code of professianal canduct in relation to the audit.

Grak T howdon

Grant Tharntan Audit Pty Lid
Charered Accountants

NP Smietana
Partner — Audit & AssUrance

Sydney, & MNavember 2020

Grani Thornion Audit Ply Lid AGH 1305132 534 wnw.grantthorntan.com.an
asubsidiary or related enlity of Grand Thorndon Ausiralia Lid ABK 41 127 558 385

“SI3M THOTNKGN' fefers hathe brand underwhch the Srant Thorman membernrms prodde 3ssurance, L3 and adsory serdces b Ehar dients
andior refers boo e oF more member rms, 25 the corbext requl res. Srant Thornton Austrdla Lbd | 3 member Arm of Gran Thorson kernatond
Lt (S TIL). STIL andthe me mber ATes are not 3wondwide patnersp. STIL and each membernim 1S 3 separe legd emty. SenMoes ane
dellveraed bythe memberdrms. STIL does not provide serdcas o cllents, GTIL and Ik memberdrms ane not agents of, and do notoblgakzone
anckner and A notlla e forone anokhers A4S of o MSSons. [1Ehe AUStrlan oo mesto iy, e Use of the lerm ' Grant TROrmo I may raer o
Srant Thormkon g ustrdla Umited ABN 41 127 556 39 and Itz australan subsldanes and relaedemifas. STILIE nok an Austidian reated & Mty o
SIank Thormeon & EELrala Umited.

Liabality hmided by 8 scheme approsed nder Frofesacnal Slandards Legialaion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Members of International Base Metals Limited

Report on the audit of the financial report
Dpinion
We have awdited the financial repornt of International Basa Metals Limited (the Company} and its subsidiaries the Graup},
which comprises the consalidated statemant of financial position a5 at 30.June 2020, the consolidated statement of prafit
ar losg and ather comprehensive income, cansalidated statement of changes in equity and congolidated statemant of cash

flaws far the year then ended, and notes to the consalidated financial statements, including & summary of significant
acoounting palicies, and the Directars' declaration.

In aur apinian, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accardance with the Corporations Act 2047, including:

8 qiving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its performance far the yvear
ended an that date; and

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regufations 2001

Basis for opinion

We conducted aur audit in actordance with Australian Auditing Standarnds. Cur responsibilities under thase standards are
further described in the Auditors Responsbiities for the Audit af the Financrial Regaort section of aur repart. We are
indepandent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code af Ethics for Professional Accauntants (the Code} that are
relenvant to aur audit of the financial repart in Australia. We have al5o fulfilad qur other ethical ragpansibilitias in
sooardance with the Caoda.

Wa believe that the audit evidence we have abtained is sufficient and apprapriate ta pravide a basis far aur apinian.

Waterial uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention ta Mate 1 (¢} in the financial repar, which indicates that the Group's nat result after income tax far the year
ended 30 June 2020 was a loss of $1,097 276 and the Group had net cash outflaws fram aperating activities of $312 554 1t
&80 has negative equity of $384 792 and is in & net current liability pasition of $406,775. As stated in nate 1(c), these events
ar conditions, alang with ather mattars sat farthin nate 1(c), indicate that & material uncertainty exists that may castdaubtan
the Group's ability ta continue 85 & gaing cancern. Curapinian is nat modified in respect of this matter,

Grani Thornion Audit Ply Lid AGH 1305132 534 wnw.grantthorntan.com.an
asubsidiary or related enlity of Grand Thorndon Ausiralia Lid ABK 41 127 558 385

“SI3M THOTNKGN' fefers hathe brand underwhch the Srant Thorman membernrms prodde 3ssurance, L3 and adsory serdces b Ehar dients
andior refers boo e oF more member rms, 25 the corbext requl res. Srant Thornton Austrdla Lbd | 3 member Arm of Gran Thorson kernatond
Lt (S TIL). STIL andthe me mber ATes are not 3wondwide patnersp. STIL and each membernim 1S 3 separe legd emty. SenMoes ane
dallveraed bythe memberdrms. STIL does not provide serdcas o cllents, GTIL and I memberdrms ane net agents of, and do notoblgakzone
anakner and A notlla e forone anokhers A4S of o MSSons. [1Ehe AUStrlan oo mesto iy, e Use of the lerm 'Grant TROTmo I may raer o
Srant Thormkon g ustrdla Umited ABN 41 127 556 39 and Itz australan subsldanes and relaedemifas. STILIE nok an sustralan reated & mibty o
Srant Thormkan & wetrdla Umited.

Liabality hmided by 8 scheme approsed nder Frofesacnal Slandards Legialaion.
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Q Grant Thornton

Information other than the financial report and auditor's report thereon

The Directars are respansibla for the ather information. The ather infarmation comprises the information included in the
Group's annual repart for the year ended 30 June 2020, but does not include the financial report and our awditor's repart
therean.

ur apinian an the financial repart doas nat caver the ather infarmatian and acoardingly we da nat express any form af
assurance conclusian therean.

In connection with our audit of the financial repart, our respansibility is to read the ather infarmation and, in doing 50, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial repart ar our knowledge abtained in the audit ar
atherwise sppears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the wark we hawve performed, we conclude that there is 8 material misstatement of this ather information, we are
required to repart that fact. We have nathing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report

The Directars of the Company are responsible far the preparation of the financial repart that gives a true and fair view in
accardance with Australian Acoounting Standards and the Corparations Act 2004, The Directars' responsibility also includes
such internal cantrol as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial repart that gives a true
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud orerrar.

In preparing the financial report, the Directars are responsible for assessing the Graup's ability to continue as a going cancern,
dsclasing, a5 applicable, matters related togaing cancern and using the going cancern basis of accaunting unless the
Oirectars eithar intand ta liguidata the Graup ar to cease aparations, ar hawve no realistic alternative butta do sa.

Auditor's responsibilities Torthe audit of the financial report

Cur objectives are to abtain reasonable assurance abaut whether the financial report as a whala is free from material
misstatemeant, whether due to frawd ar error, and o issue an auditor's repart that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
ig & high level of assuranca, butis not & guarantas that an audit conducted in acoardance with the Australian Auditing
Standards will always detact a matarial misstatameant when it axists. Misstatements can arise from fraud ar arrar and ara
cansidered material if, individually ar in the aggregate, they could reasanably be expectad to influence the acanomic dadsions
of users takan an the basis af this financial repart.

A further description of our responsibilities far the audit of the financial report is keated at the Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board website at; hitp./swww auasb goyv au/auditors responsibilitiesdars.pdf, This description forms part of our
auditar's repart.

C‘LWJ’ d"r_ilﬂ%'f o

Grant Tharntan Audit Pty Lid
Charered Accountants

MNP Smietana
Partner — Audit & AssUrance

Sydney, 6 November 2020
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Directors’ Declaration

Inthe cpinicn of the Directers of [nternaticnal Baze Metals Limited:

1. The consoclidated financial statements and notes of International Base Metals Limited are in
accordance with the Corporaticns Act 2001, including:

(a)  Giving a true and fair view of its financial pesition as at 30.June 2020 and of its performance for
the financial year ended on that date; and

(B}  Complying with Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and
the Corporations Requlations 2007; and

2 There are reazonable greunds to believe that Internaticnal Base Metals Limited will be able to pay its
debt= as and when they become due and payable.

3 The conzelidated financial statements comply with Internaticnal Financial Reporting Standards.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resclution of Directors:

’
A7 T

P Y 4

I J.-' '\

I\. Y

Hugh Thomas
Chairman

& Movember 2020
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

30 June 2020 30 June 2019

Note $ $
CHher income 4 162 737 113,193
Expenditure
Administrative expanses [917,7535) (729,474}
Expleration expenditure (5,860} (103,559}
Depreciation and amaortization expenze 5 (83,030} (12,574)
Conzultants’ expenzes (183,620} (287,73
Legal costs (75,588) (35,965)
Finance costs (83,050} -
Occupancy expenses (10,459} (B7,598)
Employee benefits expenze (132,132} (239,221}
Share of logs frem associate 8 B -
Loss before income tax [925458) (1,384,532)
Inceme tax [ - -
Loss for the year from continuing cperations (925458) (1,364,532
Loss from dizcontinued operatiens-MGL 7.2 - (1409479}
Loss from dizcontinued operations-Craten 71 (171,518} (375,052
Loss for the year M1,097,276) (3,152,063}
Gther Comprehensive Income
The items listed in Other Comprehensive Inceme may recycle
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 18(a) (432) (2,047)
Total Gther Comprehensive Income {432} {2,047}
Total Comprehensive {loss) for the year 1,097,708} (3,154,110%
Basic and diluted loss per Share (cents) 26 [0.16} 10.446)

The actompatying rotes fom part of the tihakcial stalements
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2020

30 June 2020 30 June 2019

Note $ $
Current Assets
Cazh and cash equivalents 9 409,758 297,742
Trade and other recaivables 10 - B4 659
Total Current Assets 409,788 382,40
Non-current Assets
Security deposits 1 15,056 15,056
Plant and equipment 13 - 17,235
Right of use asset 27 22818 -
Total Non-current Assets 37,674 32,294
Total Assets A47 662 414,695
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 235109 236,903
Lease liabilities 27 23,460 -
Shert-term provisicons 15 4142 4 876
Borrowings 16 553,652 -
Total current liabilities 816,563 M1,{T9
Non-Current Liabilities
Borrowings 16 625,891 -
Total Non-Current Liabilities &2 5,591
Total Liabilities 1,442,454 311,779
Met [liabilities) f assets {994,792} 102,916
Equity
lzzuad capital 17 659,096,520 69,096,520
Rezarnves - {1,715,568)
Accumulated losses 18 (70,091,612 (67,278,336)
Total [deficiency)} f equity {994,792} 102,916

The accompanying nates farm pant of the tinancial staterments
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the YVear Ended 30 June 2020

Consolidated Group

Balance at 1 July 2013

Lass far the yvear

Cther comprehensive income

Total comprehensive (loss)income for the
year

Transactions with owners, in their capacity
as awners, and other transfers

Total transactions with owners
Balance at 30 June 2019

Balaince at 1 July 2019
Lass far the yvear
Cther comprehensiee incaome

Total comprehensive (loss) for the year

Transactions with owners, in their capacity
a5 awners, and other transfers:

Transfer of foreign exchanga translation
resende o accumulates ksses following loss
af cantrol of a fareign subsidiany

Total transactions with owners

Balance at 30 June 2020

Share Accumulated Foreign Total Equity
Capital Losses Exchange
Transaction
Reserve

§ $ $ $

£9,00E 220 (64,126,273 (1,713 521) 3,257,026

- (3,182,063} - (3,152,063}

- - (2,047} (2,047}

- {3,152, 063) 12,047) (3154 1109

59,096,320 (67 273,336) {1,715 568 102 916

63,096 320 67 273 336) {1,715 563 102 916

- 1,087 276} - (1,087 276}

- - 1432} (432}

- {1,007 276) (432} {1,007 708)

- (1,716,000 1,716,000 -

- 1,716,000} 1,716,000 -

53,096,320 (70,001,612 - (994, 792)

The accomuanying nates form part of the tinancial staternents
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the YVear Ended 30 June 2020

Note

30 June 2020 30 June 2019
$ $

CASH FLOWS FRCM GPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts — other

Payments to suppliers and employees

Payments for exploration expenditure

Interest received

Interast paid

Net cash {outflow} from operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of plant and equipment

Proceeds from the sale of plant and equipment

Cash derecognised as a result of the loss of control of subsidiary

MNet cash [outflow} from investing activities
CASH FLOWS FRCM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayment of lease liabilities

Leans received from sharehclders

Converible notes izzued by shareholders

Net cash inflow from financing activities

Met increazel(decrease)in cash held

Cazh at the beginning of the financial year

Cash at the end of the financial year

The accompanying nates farm parn of the tinancial staterments

ABM: 73163 372635
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162716 109,634
(1,020,9300 (1,806,614
(45,3517 (652.276)
4,319 7,372
(3,308 (510, D00}

{912,554} (2,377,884}

- (49,478)
55,075 5,286
(76,353)  (263,682)

(21,278) (304,874}

(54,122 -
500,000 -
£00,000 -

1,045,878

TZME  (2582,758)
297 747 2,950,500

409,788 297,742
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 1: SUMMARY CF SIGNIFICANT ACCQUNTING PQLICIES

These general purpose financial statements hawe been prepared in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations of the Australian Acoounting Standards Board and
International Financial Reparting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The Group
i5 8 for-profit entity far financial reporting purposes under Australian Accounting Standards. Material accounting
ralicies adapted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and have been consistently
Fpplied unlass stated atharwise.

a.

Accounting Policies

The same accounting policies and methads of computation have generally been folkowed in the financial
wear statements a5 those emplaved in the Group's annual financial statements for the vear ended 30 June
201 3 with the exception of the application of AASE 16 Leases and Interpretation 23 Uncertainty aver income
tax treatments

AASB 16 Leases

The Campany has elected to adopt AASE 16 Leases using the madified retrospactive methad from 1 July
2018 and therefore the comparative irformatian for the yvear ended 30 June 2013 has not been restated and
has been preparad in accordance with AASE 117 Leases and assacizted Accounting Interpretations. The
impact of adapting AASE 16 is described belaw,

Under AASE 117, the consalidstad entity assessed whether leasas weare aperating, ar finance leases basad
an its agsassnant of whather the significant risks and rewards af awnership had been transferrad to the
lessee or remained with the lessar. Under AA3E 16, thara is no differentiation between finance and operating
leases for the lessee and therefare all lkeases which meet the definition of a lease are recognised on the
statement of financial position (except where an exemption election is used}. The leases identified by the
consdlidated entity have been recognised as a right of use asset with a corresponding lease liability on the
balance sheet.

AASE 16 includes sevaral practical expadients which can be used an transition, the cansalidatad entity has

usad the fallowing expedients:

. cantracts which had previously been assessed as not contasining leases under AASE 117 and
gssociated Accounting Interpretations were not re-assessed an transition to AASE 146;

v lease liabilities have bean discountaed using the Company's incremental barrowing rate at 1 July 2013;

. right of use assets at 1 July 2019 hawve been measured at an amount equal to the lease liability
acjustment by the any prepaid ar accrued lease payments;

v leases with an aexpiry date prior to 30 June 2020 were excludad from the statement of financial position
and the lease expenses far these leases have beenrecarded an & straight-line basis over the
remaining term; and

. hindsight was used when determining the lease term where the contract contains aptions to extend ar
ferminate the leasa.

Financial repart impact af adoption of AASE {6

The Company has recognisad right of use assets of §77 582 and lease liabilities of $77 582 at 1 July 2013 far
leases previously classified as operating leases. The weighted average lessee's incremental barrowing rate
applied to lease liabilities at 1 July 2013 was 4.64%.

Interpretation 23 — Uncertainty over income tax treatments

Interpratation 23 clarifias how ta apply the recognition and measurentant raquiremants of AASE 112 'Incamea
Taxes' in circumstances where uncertain tax treatment exists. The Interpratation specifically addresses the
fallowing:

» Whether an entity considers uncartain tax trestnlants separately

» The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation autharities

» How an entity determines taxable prafit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits

and tax rates

» How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances
The Graup determines whethear to congider each uncartain tax treatment separately ar tagether with ane ar
mare other uncerain tax treatments and uses the approach that better pradicts the resalution of the
uncertainty. The Group applies significant judgement in identifying uncertainties aver income tax treatments.

The Graup has adopted Interpretation 23 fram 1 July 201 5. Upan adaption of the Interpretation, the Group
considered whether it has any uncertain tax positions. The Group has datermined, based on its tax
compliance, that it is prabable that its tax traatments will be acceptad by the taxation autharities. The adaption
aof Interpratation 23 did not hawe an impact an the consalidated financial statements of the Graup.

The Graup will cantinue ta review the *Same Business Test" and the “Cantinuity of ownership test’ to assess
whether it has an impact on the accessibility of tax losses.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NCOTE 1: SUMMARY GF SIGNIFICANT ACCQGUNTING PCLICIES {continued)

Frinciplkes of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all of the assets, liabilities and results of the parent
International Base Metals Limited and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidianes are entities the parent cantrals. The
parent contrals an entity whan it is exposed ta, ar has rights to, variable returns from its invohvemeant with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its pawer over the antity. A list of the subsidiaries is
providad in Mate 23.

The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consalidated into the financial statements of the
Group from the date on which the Group abtaing cantral. When a changa in the Company's ownarship in &
subsidiary result in & lass of cantral ower the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including
ay goodwill are deracognised. Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income in raspact of that antity
e also reclassified to profit or loss. The consalidation of a subsidiary is discontinued from the date that
cantral ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains ar losses on transactions batween
goup entities ae fully eliminated an consalidation. Accounting palicies of subsidiaries have been changed
end adjustments made where necessary to ensure unifarmity of the acoounting palicies adopted by the
Graup.

Equity interasts in & subsidiary nat attributable, directhy ar indirectly, to the Group are presentad as “nan-
cantralling interests’. The Group initially recognises non-contralling interests that are present awnership
nterests in subsidiaries and are entitled o a propartionate share of the subsidiary's net assets an liquidation
&t sither fair value ar at the noncontrolling interests' proportionate share of the subsidiary's net assets.
Subsequent ta initial recognition, non-contralling interests are attributed their share of profit ar koss and each
component of other comprefensive income. Monrcontrolling interests are shown separately within the equity
gaction of the statement of financial position and statement of comprehensive income.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

The financial report has been preparad on the going concern basis of acoounting, which assumes the
continuity of narmal business activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities in the
ardingry course of businass and at the smounts stated in the financial repart.

The net result aftar income tax for the consalidatad antity for the yvear ended 30 June 2020 was a loss of
$1,097 276 (2019 loss of §3,152,063} and the Group had net cash outflows fraom operating activities af
$312,554 (2019 2,377 834} It also has negative equity of $934 732 and i5 in a net current liability pasition
of B406, 775,

The Directars have considerad the fallowing in their assessment of going concern:

(i} The Group had $403,738 cash an hand at 30 June 2020;

(i} Cn the 17 March 2020, ane of the mejor sharehalders provided a convertible note of $600,000 o
finance the Group's immediate cash needs. The Group expects further financial suppart to be
pravided if required;

[iiy  Further casts cutting measures can be taken reducing operating cash autlaws.

[iv} Cn the 26 Cctaber 2020, the debt pravidars extended the repayment date of the kans amounting to
$500,000 from February 2021 ta Februany 2022,

In the event that the consalidated entity is unable to abtain sufficient funds (specifically the raising of capital
ar additional debt) o meet anticipated expenditure, there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant
daubt upan the Company and the consolidated entity's ability 1o continue as a gaing concern and whether it
will realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business at the amounts stated in
the financial repart.

Atthe date of approval of this financial repart, the directars are of the apinian that no as8et is likely to be
reglised far an amaount less than the amaunt at which itis recarded in the finandal statements at 30 .June
2020. Accardingly, na acjustments have been made to the financial statemants relating ta the recaverability
and classification of the assat carrying amounts or the amounts and classifications of liabilities that might be
Necassary.

Interests in Joint Arrangements

Under AA5B 11 Joint Arrangements investments in jint arangements are <lassified as either pint
cperations ar joint ventures. The <lassification depends on the contractual rights and abligations of each
nvestor, rather than the legal structure of tha jaint arrangement. International Base Metals Limited has a joint
venture.

Intarasts in jaint wantures are aooounted far Using the equity methad, after initially being recognised at ©ast in
the consolidated balance sheet.
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e, Segment reporting
Cparsting segments are reparted in & manner consistent with the internal reparting pravided to the chief
aperating dacision makers. The chief operating decision maker, who are responsible for alkbcating resources
and assessing performance of the operating segments, have bean identified as the Board of Directars of
Internatianal Ease Metals Limited.

f. Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the finandal statements of each of the Group's entities are messured using the

currency of the primary economic enviranment in which the entity aperates ('the functional currancy'y.

The cansalidated financial statemeants are presented in Australian dollars, which is International Base

Metals Limited's functional and presentatian currendcy.

{iiy Transactions and balance

Fareign currency transactions are transleted inta the functional currency using the exchange rates

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains amd lossas resulting from the

sattlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Translation differences an financisl assats and liabilities carried at fair value are reparted a5 part ofthe

fair walue gain or loss. Translation differancas an nan-manatary financial 3558t and liabilities such as

equities hekd at fair value through prafit ar kss are recognised in prafit ar kbss a5 part af the fair value
gain ar lass.
(i) Group companies

The results and financial pasiton of all the graup entitias (pane of which has the currency of a

hyparinflationary economy} that have a functional currency different from the presentation curiency are

franslated into the presentation currency as follows:

- asgets and lisbilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the chksing
rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

_income and expenses for each income statement and statement of comprehensive income are
tranglated &t average exchangse rates (unkess this is not a reasanable approximation aof the
cumulative affect of the rates prevailing an the tansaction dates, in which case income and expenses
ara translated at the dates of the transactions), and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognisad in other comprehensive incame.

On consalidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign

antities, and of barmawings and other financial instruments designated a5 hedges of such imvastments,

are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a fareign aperation is sald or any barrowings
forming part of the net investment are repaid, a8 propartionate share of such exchange differences is
reclassified to profit ar loss, as part of the gain or lass on sale where applicable.
a. Other Income
Interest incame is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the group
reduces the <arrying amaount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
arigingl effective interest rete of the instrument and continues unwinding the discount a5 interest incame.
Interast inoome on impaired Dans is recognised wsing the ariginal effective interast rate.
Research and Development Grants
Mine devealopment costs may be eligible for a Governmeant Research and Development Grant with such grants
being taken up as income in the statement of income and expenditure.
h. Income tax

The charge far current income tax expanse is based on the profit far the wear adjusted for any non-assessable
ar disallowed items. It is calculated using the tax rates that have been enacted ar are substantially enacted at
the end of the reporting period basad an the applicable income tax rates for each jursdiction where the
Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate income.

Defarred tax is accounted far using the liability method in respect of temporary differences arising between the
lax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Mo deferrad income tax
will be recognised fraom the initial recognition of an asset ar liability, excluding a business combination, where
there is no affect an acoounting ar taxable prafitar 1955,

Defarred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period whan the asset is realised or
liability is settled. Deferred tax is credited in prafitar loss except whera it relatas ta items that may be cradited
diractly to equity, in which case the defarred tax is acjusted directly against equity.
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International Base Metals Limited and its wholly owned Australian contralled entities hawve not implementad
the tax consalidation legislation.
Defarred income tax as5ets are recognised to the axtent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temparary difference can be utilised.
The amaunt of benefits brought to acoount ar which may be realisad in the future i5 based an the
assumption that no adverse change will occur in income taxation legislation and the anticipation that the
consolidatad group will derive sufficient future assessable income to enable the benefit to be realised and
comply with the canditions of deductibility imposed by law.

i. Explorationexpenditure
In accordance with AASE 6 — Explaration for and the Evaluation of Mineral Resources, the Group has
daected to expensa in the prafit ar kiss all its explaration expenditure.

i~ Mireral Development expenditure

Capitalised expenditure is transfemed from ‘Exploration and evaluation expenditure’ to 'Mines under
cavelbpment' once the woark completed to date suppors the future development of the property. After
ransfer of the axploration and evalustion assets, all subsequent expenditure an the develapmeant is
capitalisad in ‘Mines under devealapment'. Develapment expenditure is net of proceeds fram the sale of are
axtractad during the developmeant phase to the axtent that it is considerad intagral ta the development of the
mina. Amy Casts incurrad in testing the assets to determine if they are functioning a8 intended, are
capitalised, net of any procesds received from selling any product produced while testing. “Where these
procesds exceed the cost of testing, any excess is recognised in the statement of profit or koss and other
comprehensive income. After production stars, all assets included in 'Mines under development' are then
fransferred to 'Producing mines'.

Mne development costs may be eligible for a Government Research and Develbpment Grant with such
gants being taken up as income in the statement of income and expenditure.

k. Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental protection expenditure
Where applicable, a provision for material restoration abligations is recognised for explaration licences. The
amaunt recagnised indudes casts of reclamation and site rehabilitation after taking into account restoration
works which are carried out during explaration. The pravisian far restaration costs are determined from an
estimate of future costs and are capitalised a5 exploration expenditure.
Ifthe effect of time value of maney is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future
cash flows at & pra-tax rate that reflects current markat assessment of the tima valua of money and, whara
sppraprizte, the risks specific to the liability.
Whera discaunting is used, the incraase in the praviskan due to the pessage oftime is recognised a5 & finance
cast.
Management has reassessed and provided for restaration as required for any disturbance during the field
explaration and development wark, which has been recognised as part of mines undar development.

I.  Financial Instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
pravisikans of the financial instrument and are measured initialy &t Tair value adjusted by transactions €osts,
except for thase carried at fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value.
Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

Financial assets are derecagnised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset
expire, ar when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial
iability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled ar expires.

Classification and initial measurement of financial asgets

Except far thase trade receivables that oo nat cantain a significant financing companant and are measurad at
the transaction price in accodance with AASE 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value
edjusted for transaction costs (where applicable}.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial asseats, other than those designated and effective as
Fadging instruntants, are classified inta the fallowing categaries upan initial recagnitian:

+ financial assets at amartised cost

»financial as5ets at fair valla thraugh profitar lass (FYPL}

+debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FYCC!}

=equity instruments at fair walue through ather comprehensive income (FYOC!}
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Classifications are determined by both:

= the entity's business mode! far managing the financial asset

»the cantractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets

All incame and axpanses relating ta financial assets that are recognised in profit or kass are presentad within
finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except far impairment of trade receivables which is
presented within other expenses.

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the fallowing conditions (and are not
casignated as FYPL)

they are held within & business madel whase abjective is ta hald the financial assets and callect its
cantractual cash flows

+the cantractual terms of the financial 858ets give rise to cash flows that are salely payments of principal and
interast on the principal amount outstanding

Ffter initial recognition, these are measuraed st amartised cast using the affective interest methad. Discaunting

& amitted where the effact of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and cash equivalents, trade and

mest other receivables fall into this categary of financial instrumeant.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FYFL)

Financial assets that are held within a2 business madel ather than 'hold ta callect’ or 'hald to collect and sell®
gre categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespactive of business madel, financial assets
whose cantractual cash flows are not salely payments of principal and interest are acoounted far at FVYPL. All
cerivative financial instruments fall into this category, except far thase designated and effective as hedging
instruments, for which the hedge accounting requirements apply.

Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income [(Debt FYDCI)

Financial agsets with contractual cash flows representing salely payments of principal and interest and held
within a business madel of collecting the contractual cash flows and selling the assets are accountad for at
FVCCI Any gains or lasses recognised in OCI will be recycled upon derecognition of the asset.

Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (Equity FYOCI)

Iméastments in aguity instruments that are nat held far trading are eligible far an irevacable election at

nception to be measured at FYOCIL Under this categary, subseqguent movements in fair value are recognised

n other comprehensive income and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Dividend income is taken to profit

ar kss unless the dividend <learly represents return of capital.

Impairment of financial assets

AASE 3's impairment madel use mare farward looking infarmation to recognize expected credit losses - the

expectad credit losses (ECLY model'. The application of the impairment model depands on whether there has

teen a significant increase in credit risk.

The Group cansiders & braader range of infarmation when assessing credit fsk and maasuring expectad

credit losses, including past events, current conditions, ressanable and suppartabla farecasts that affect the

exnpacted callactability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this formard-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

+ financial instruments that have not deterarated significanthy in credit quality since initial recognition or that
have low credit risk ('Stage 1"} and

+ financial instruments that have deteriarated significantly in cradit gquality since initial recagnition and whase
cradit risk is not low ("Stage 2}

“Stage 3' wauld cover financial assets that have abjective evidence of impairment at the reparting date. '12-
manth expected <redit losses' are recognised far the first categony whilke 'lifetime expected credit losses' are
recagnised for the secondd category, Measurement of the expected credit ksses is determined by a

probability-weighted estimate of credit losses aver the expected life of the financial instrumeant.
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Trade and other receivables and contract assets

The Group makes use of & simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receiables as well as contract
sg5ets and recaords the loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime cradit losses. In using this
practical expadient, the Group uses its histarical experience, external indicatars and farward-laoking informatian
o calculate the expected credit losses using & provisian matrix.

The Graup assess impairment of trade receivablas an & oollective basis a5 they possess credit risk
characteristics based an the days past due.

Al financial assets, except for those at fair value throuwgh profit or loss (FYPL}Y and equity investments at fair
walug thraugh other comprehenshie income feguity FYCCI), are subject to review far impairment at least at each
reporting date to identify whether thera is any objective evidence that & financial asset or & group of financial
Bg5ets is impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprebhensive income

The Group racognises 12 months expected credit ksses for financial assets at FVOCIL As mast of thease
instuments hawe a high credit rating, the likelihood of default is deemed small. However, at each reporting date
the Graup assassas whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk of the instrumant.

In assessing these risks, the Group relies an readity available information such as the cradit ratings issued by
the msjor credit rating agencies for the respedtive asset. The Group only holds simple financial instruments far
which specific credit ratings are usually available. In the unlikely event that there is na ar anly little information
an factars influencing the ratings of the asset aveilable, the Group woukd aggregate similar instruments into &
portfalio to assess on this basis whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

In addition, the Group considers other indicators such as adverse changes in business, economic ar financial
canditions that coukd affect the borrawer's ability to meet its dabt abligation ar unexpected changes in the
tarrawers aperating results.

Shauld any of these indicators imphy 2 significant increase in the instrument's cradit risk, the Group recognises
fr this instrument ar class of instruments tha lifetime expectad credit losses.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include barrowings, trade and other payables and derivative financial
instuments.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
Lnless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. Subsequently, financial
iatilities are measurad at amartised cost using the effective interest methad aexcept far derivatives and financial
iabilities designatad at FYPL, which are carried subsequantly at fair walue with gains ar kK55es recagnisad in
profit ar kss (other than derivative financial instruments that are desiknated and effective as hedging
instruments}.

m. Cashand cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, depasits hald at call with banks, other short-term highby licuid
nvestments with ariginal maturities of twelve months ar less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shawn
with shar-term borrowings in current liabilities.

n.  Property, plant and equipment
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost ar fair value less, where applicable, any
sccumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
The carrving amaount of property, plant and equipment is reviewed annually by Directors to ensure it is not in
exncess of the recoverable amount from these assets. The recoverable amount is assessed an the basis of the
expected net cash flows that will be receied from the assets employment and subsequent disposal. The
expected net cash flows have been discounted to their present values in determining recoverable amaunts
Indicatian that thase assets heve bean impaired. If such an indicatian exists, the recaverable amaunt of the
g55ats, baing the higher of the asset's fair valua less costs to 5ell and value in usa is comparad to the a55et's
carnying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recaverable amaunt is recognised in profit or
[a]:2:3
Depreciation
Cepredatian of non-mining assets is calculated using the straight-line methad to alkcate their cost ar revalued
emaunts, net of their residual values, aver their estimated useful lives. Leasehold improvements are depreciated
aver the sharter of either the unexpired period ar the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

The depreciation rate used for each <lass of depraciable assets are:

Cffice equipment dyears
Furniture & fitting Byears
Flant and Equipment Syears
Mator vehicles 4 years
Computer equipment 4 wears
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Cepredation on mining assets commences when the asset is put into use and is based on the units of

production method which results in a decreasing charge over the useful life of the asset.

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporing date.

An agsat's carndng amount is written down immediately to its recovarabla amaunt if the asset's carnying amaunt

is greater than its estimated recaverable amount.
Gains and lasses an disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carmying amounts. These gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. When re-valued assets are sald, amounts included in the
revaluation resenve relating to thosa assets are transferred to retained earnings.

0. Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether & lease axists — i.e. does the cantract convey the
fight to cantral the use of an identified assat for & period of tima in exchanga far cansideratian. This invalves
an assessment of whether the cantract invahves the use of an identified asset — this may be explicithy ar
implicitty identified within the agreemtant. If the supplier has & substantive substitution right, then thera is na
identified asset.

The Company has the right to abtain substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset
throughout the period of use. The Company has the right to direct the use of the asset i.e. decision-making
nights in relation to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. The Company has elected not to
separate non-lease companents from lease components heve acoounted for all leases as a single companent.

At the lease commencement, the Company recognises a rightofuse asset and associated lease liability for
the lease term. The lease tem includes extension pariods where the company believes it is reasanably certain
that the option will be exercisad.

The right<ofuse asset is measured using the cost model where ©ost an initial recognition comprises of the
lease liability, initial direct costs, prepaid lease peyments, estimated cost of remaval and restaration less any
leage incantives.

The right-of-use asset is depreciated awer the lease term an & straight-line basis and assessed for impairmant
in accordance with the impairment of assets acoounting palicy. The rightofuse 55586t i5 assessed far
impairment indicatars at each reporting date.

The lease ligbility is initially measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments &t the
commencement of the lease. The discount rate is the rate implicit in the lease, howeaver whara this cannot be

readily determined then the company's incremental borrowing rate is usad.

Subsedquent ta initial recognition, the lease liability is measurad at amartised oast using the effective interast
rate methad. The lease liabilty is remeasured whether there is a lease modification, change in estimate of the
lemse term ar index upan which the lease payments are bazed (e.g. CPIl} or a change in the Company's
assassment of lease tarm.

Where the lease liability is remeasured, the right-of-use asset is adjusted to reflect the remeasurement or is
recardad in profitor lass if the carrying amaunt of the right-af-use assat has baan reduced ta zara.

Previous policy (before 1 July 2019)

The determination of whether an arrangemant is ar contains a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement and requires an assessment of whethar the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent an the
use of a specific asset or assets and the arangement conveys a right to use the asset.

Cperating lease payments are recodnised a5 an expense in the statemant of prafit ar kiss and ather
camprehensive incoma on a straight-line basis over the leasa term.

p.  Trade and other payablkes
Thegse amounts reprasant ligbilities for goods and services pravided to the group priar ta the end of financial
vear which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recagnition. Trade
and other payables are presented as current liabilties unless payment is not due within 12 manths after the

reparting period. They are recognisad intially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest meathod.

q- Borrowing Costs

Barraowing oasts directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or praduction of assets that necessarily take
& substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are addad to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready far their intended use or sale.

All ather barrawing oasts are recognised in prafitar lass in the periad in which they are incurred.
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r.  Provisions
Pravisions are recognisad when the group has a legal ar constructive abligation, as & result of past evants, far
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measurad.
Pravisions are measurad at management's bast estimate of the expenditure required ta setftle the present
<bligation at the reparting date.
The differance batwean the carmying amaunt of & financial liability that has been extinguished ar transferrad ta
anather party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash a55ets transferred ar liabilities assumed, is
recagnised in ather incame or finance ©ast.
Barrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an uncanditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 manths after the reparting date.

5.  Employee henefits
Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and accumulating annual leave expacted o
be settled within 12 manths after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are
recognised in respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
smaunts expectad to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave is recognised in the
pravisian far empkyea banefits. All other shor-term employas benafit abligations are presantad a5 payablas.
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-manetary benefits and annual leave expected 0 be settled
within 12 manths of the reporting date are recognised in current pravisions in respect of employess’ senvices up
o the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

t. Contributed equity
Crdinary shares are classified a5 aquity. Incremantal costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares ar
aptians are shawn in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceads. Incremental costs directly attributable
o the issue of new shares or options far the aoguisition of a business are not included in the cost of the
acouisition as part of the purchase cansideration.

u.  Earnings per share

1) Gasic eamings per share
Basic eamings per share is calculated by dividing:
- the profit attributable to equity haolders of the Group, excluding any costs of sendcing equity other than
ardingry sharas;

- by the weighted average number of ordinary shares autstanding during the financial year, acjusted faor
banus elements in ardinary shares issued during the vear.
) Diuted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
inta acoaunt:
- the afterincome tax effect of interest and ather financing costs associsted with dilutive potential ordinany
shares, and
- the weighted avarage number of additional ardinary shares that wauld hawe besn dutstanding assuming
the canversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
v.  Goods and services tax and VAT
Fevenues, axpenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and senvices tax (GST) ar value
silded tax (WAT}, except, where the amaunt of GST incurred is nat recaverabla fram the Australian Tax Office
o WAT is not recoverable from the Mamibian Tax Office. In these circumstances the GSTAAT is recognised as
pert af the oost of acquistion of the asset ar a5 part of an item of axpanse.
Receivables and payables are shawn inclusive of GETVAT. The net amount of GSTAVAT recoverable from, ar
ravable to, the taxation autharities is included with other receivatbles ar pavables.
Cash flaws are included in the statement of cash flows an a gross basis except far the GSTAVAT companent of
cash flows arising fram investing and financing activities which are disclksed as operating cash flows.
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w. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of cerain critical acoounting estimates. It alsa
lequires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group's acoounting policies.
The areas involving & higher degree of judgement ar complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements.

The Directars evaluate estimates and judgements incarporated into the financial repart based on histarical
knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonsble expectation of future
avents and are based on current trends and econamic data, abtained both externally and within the graup.

Key estimates — Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic

Judgement has bean axarcisad in congidering the impacts that the Coranawvirus (CCWVID-13) pandemic has
had, ar may hanea, on the Group based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the
praducts and senvicas offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geagraphic regions in which the Group
cperates. Cther than as addressad in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any
gignificant impact upon the financial statements ar any significant uncerainties with respect to events ar
canditions which may impact the Group unfavourably as at the reparting date ar subsequently as a result of
the Caranavirus (COWVID-1 53} pandamic.

Key estimates — Incremental borrowing rate

Where the interest rate implicit in & lease cannoat be readily determined, an incremental barrowing rate is
estimated to discount future lease payments to measure the present value of the lease liability at the lease
commancement date. Such & rate is based an what the company estimates itwould heve ta pay & third party
1o barraw the funds necessary to dbtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset, with similar
terms, security and ecanomic enviranment.

Key estimates — Impairment
The group asses58es impairment at each reporting date by evalusting conditions specific to the group that
mey lesd to impairmiant of assets. Where an impairment trigger adists, the recoverable amount of the as5et
is determined using the fair walue less disposal costs ar walue in use appraach, whichever is more
gpprapriata far the undearlying asset.
Key judgements — Exploration expenses
The Directars hawe elected to expense rather than capitalise expenditure on explaration, evaluation and
cevalkapmant an all the Graup's explaration as it is incurrad. Diractars balieve this treatmant when
expenditure is expansad rather than capitalised is mare relevant with understanding the Company's financial
pasitian, complies fully with AASBE & and is cash flow reutral. Refer Kote 1{i}.
X. Parententity financial information

The financial infarmatian far the parant entity, Intemational Base Matals Limitad, disclosed in Mate 19 has bean

preparad on the same basis as the consalidated financial statements, except as set aut belaw,

nvestmenis in suhsidiaries

Investmants in subsidiaries are acoounted for at cast in the financial statements of International Base Metals
Limited less any accumulated impairment.

The carrying walue of the imvestments in subsidiaries is assessad for impairment at each year end. Wheara
mpairment is identified, the impairment expense is recognised in profit ar lass far the vear.

NCGTE 2: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial Risk Management Policies

Risk management is carried out by management under palicies appraved by the Board of Directors. The
Group's avarall risk management strategy is to ensure that financial targets are mat, while minimising
patential adverse effects on financial performance relating to current and future cash flow requirements.

The Group's finandsal instruments congist mainly of deposit with banks, acoounts receivable, invastments,
kans received and trade and other payables.
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The total for each catagary of financial instruments, measured in accordance

the accounting policies fo these financial statements, are as follows:

with AASE 3 as detailed in

Consolidated Group

ABM: 73163 372635

2020 2019
$ $
Financial Assetls

Cash and cash equivalents 403,733 287 742
Trade and other receivables - 24 689
Security depasits 15,056 15,056
424 844 397 457

Financial liabilities
Barrowings 1,179,743 -
Lease liabilities 23480 -
Trade and other payables 235108 236903
1,438,312 236,903

i) Price risSk-security prices

The Group is exposed to equity security price risk. This arises from investments held by the Group
end classified as financial assets at fair value through profitor loss representing shares hekd in listed
COmMpanies.

The Directars hawe resalved to fully impair these investments with the result that the carning value
i8 nil.

The Group is not exposed 0 commadity price risk.

fiy) fiterest rate risk

Ag the Group barrowings were at fixed rates of interest there is no rate risk from these kbans.

Feceivables are carried at amortised cost and are therefore not subject to interast rate risk as
cefined in AASE 7.
The Graup's interast rate risk arises from cash eguivalents with variable interest rates and fram
ather assets (prepayments and security depasitsy. The awerage interest rate applicable during the
reporting period 0.06% (2013:0.525%).

Group sensitivity

At 30 June Z020 if interest rates had increasedidecreased by 50 basis points from the vear end
ratas with &Il ather variables held constant, the Group's net profit bafare tax wauld have been $1,278
kwerthigher (20193: 1,142 higher! lower as a result of higherlower interest income fraom cash and
cash equivalents.

{fi) Credit RISk

Cradit risk is the risk of financial kss to the Group if a customer ar countarparty o a financial
instument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group's
receivables from other third paries, investments, banks and financial institutions.

hwestments, banks and financial institutions

The Group limits its expasure to credit risk by anly limiting transactions with high credit quality
financial institutions that hare an external credit rating, set down by Standard and Poors (SEP), of at
east Ad- and BBE+ categary far lang term invasting and at leasta shartterm rating of A-1 and A-1.
With respect to investments, it limits its exposure by investing in liguid inwestments that are
principally exchange traded.

Trade and other receivables

As the Group currently has no mines in production, the group and the parent generally do not have
tracle receivablas. The Graup however doas receive refunds for VAT and GST (8l of which are nat
subject to AASBE T disclosures). The Group is therefare not generally exposed to credit risk in
relation to trade receivables. The Group hawever provides security depasits as part of its explaration
activities which does expose the Group to credit risk in this area but which is not material.
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NCTE 2: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [continued}

Financial assets past due but not impaired

Asg the Group and Parent Entity are currently only involved in mineral exploration and development and are not
trading, there ara na financial a55ets past dues and there is no management of credit risk thraugh parfarming an
aging analysis as requirad by AASE 7. Forthis reason an ageing analysis has not been disclosed in relation to

this £lass of financial instrument.

Financial assets neither past due nor impaired

The Group and Company credit guality of financial assets that are neither past due nar impaired can be
assessed by reference to external credit ratings or past histony:

Cartying amou nt

Consolidated
2020 2019
$ $

Cash and cash equivalents

Ah- Standard & Poor's, Moody's AaZ2 - -
A+ Standard & Poor's, Moody's A+ 344 343
AA Standard & Poars - 102,224
Moody's Baal - 104417
Naody's A2 - -
AaZ Standard & Poar's, Maody's AA- 408,444 31,088
409,738 297 742

i) Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in setting its debts ar
atherwise meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities. The Group manages this risk through the
fllowing mechanisms:

+  preparing forward looking cash flow analysis in ralation to its aparational and financing activities;
= ansuring that adequate capital raising activities are undertaken;

+  maintaining a reputable credit profile; and

+  Imvesting sUrplus cash anly with msjor financial institutions.

The Group's preference is to use capital raising rathar than borrawings to balance cash flow requirements.

The fallowing tables reflect undiscounted contractual settement terms far financial instruments of a fixed
reriod of maturity, as well as management's expactations of the settlement penod far all ather financial

instuments.
Total
As at 30 June 2020 Less than 1 1to5  Wore than contractual  Carrying
Year Years 5Y¥ears cash flows Yalue
$ $
Trade and ather payablas 235,108 - - 235109 235108
Lagse liabilities 23640 - - 23640 23460
Barrowings FR38R2  &258M - 1,330,860 1,179,743
Total financial labilities M2 601 625 391 - 1,639,600 1,438,312
Total
As at 30 June 2019 Less than 1 1105 ore than contractual Carrying
Year Years 5¥ears cash flows Yalue
$ $ $ $ $
Trade and other payables 236,303 - - 236,303 236,303
Total financial habilities 236403 - - 236003 236903

{¥) Fair value estimation

Fair walues are those amounts at which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's kength transaction.
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NCGTE 2: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [continued}

Fair values derivad may be based on information that is estimated or subject to judgment, whera changes in
sssumptions may have a material impact an the amounts estimated. Areas of judgment and the assumptions have
teen detailed below. Where passible, valuation information used to calculate fair value is extractad from the
market, with more reliable infarmation available from markets that are actively traded. In this regard, fair valuas far
isted securities are obtained from guoted market bid prices.

Differences between fair values and carnying values of financial instruments with fixed interest rates are due to the
change in discount rates being applied by the market since their initial recognition by the Group. Mast of these
instruments are carried at amarised cost.

NOTE 3: SEGMENT INFORMATICN

ta) Description of segments
Management has determined the aperating segments based on the reparts reviewsad by the Board that are used
¥ make strategic decisions. The Board oonsiders the business fram both explaration and & geographic
perspective and has identified thrae repartable segments.
International Base Metals Limited and its controlled entities are inwalvad in mineral exploration and development
without an income stream at this stage. Cash flow including the raising of capital o fund explaration and the
denvelapmiant of mines is presently tharefare the main facus ather than profit
The three repartable segments are Australia Mining, Mamibia Mining and Australia Carparate which alsa equata
ta the geadraphic locatians.
)  Segment performance
3020 Australia Namibia Total
Corporate Mining
{discontinued
operation)
$
REVEMUE
Cther revenue [including finance rewvenua) 1,180,437 45 573 1226010
Tatal segment revanue 1180437 45 573 1,226,010
Recanciliation of segment revenue o group revenue
Discantinued operations - 45573} (45,573}
Intar-segniant alimination® (1,027 700} - (1,027 ¥00)
Tatal group revenue and income 152,737 - 152 737
2019 Australia Namibia Australia Mining Total
Corporate Mining (discontinued
(discontinued operation)
operation)
$ $ $
REVYEHUE
Cther revenue (including finance revenue} 2587 684 10,340 7663 2605637
Tatal segment revanue 2 BBT 654 10,340 7663 2605687
Recanciliation of segmeant revanue ta graup
fevenLe
Discantinued aparatians - - 7663} (7663}
Inter-segment elimination® (2,474,501} - - 2474501}
Total group revenue and income 113133 10,340 - 123633
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MCTE 3: SEGMENT INFGRMATICN {continued)

NET {LDSS) BEFORE TAX

2020 Australian Mamibia Total
Corporate Mining
(discontinued
operation)
$ $ $
fet (loss} Before Tax (825 457} (1,085,634 (1,811,091}
Fecanciiiation of zagrrent net foss befare tax ta groug netioss
before tax
Inter-segment eliminations (100,001} 33816 213815
Dperating Net Loss before tax (925 453) {71,313 1,097 276;
119 Australian Namibia Australia Mining Total
Corporate Wining (discontinued
operation)
$ $ $ $
et prafit (loss} Befare Tax (2,765,723} (2,069 507} 1409473 5,244, 7059})
Fecanciliation of segment net foss hefore tax to
croup netfoss before tax
Inter-segment eliminations 1,401,180 1691 456 - 3,082 646
Dperating Net Loss before tax {1,364,533) [373,051) 1409479 (3,152,063}
[cl  Sepgment assets
Australian Namibia Australia Total
Corporate Mining Mining
(discontinued  (discontinued
operation) operation)
2020 $ $ $ $
Segment a55ets currant® 408,788 121,510 - 531,638
Segment assets non-current** 3r.ard 3438 - 41,312
Inter-segment liminations - - - -
Ciscantinued activities - 125,348} - (125348}
Total group assets A47 B62 - - 447 BE2

* Australian current assets are cash and receivables

#* Australian non-current sssets include investment in subsidiaries, investments in associate and in other listed

antities, and office plant and equipment.

Australian  Namibia Australia Total
Corporate Mining Mining
{dis continued
operation)
. 3 § $ $
Segmant assets current* 104,653 277,748 - 382401
Segmant assets non-current** 2331 3,973 - 32,294
Total group assets 127974 236721 - 414 695

* Australian current assets are cash and receiables, Mamibian current assets are cash, receivebles and

prepayments.

** Australian nan-current assets include imeestment in subsidiaries, investmants in associate and in other listed
entities, and office plant and equipment. These are statad net of impairment pravisions against investment in
subsidiaries and kbans of $23,151,750 and $12,705,129 respectively.
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NCTE 3: SEGMENT INFORMATICN [continued}

{d}

Segment hahilities

Australian Namibia Total
Corporate Mining
{discountinued
operation)
2020 $ §
Segment liabilities* 1,442 454 27 A38202 9430746
Reconchiation of segment fiabiities to group iabdites
Intar-segment aliminations** - 27 8985 002}y (27,985 002}
Discantinued activities - 13,200} 13,290}
Total group habilities 1,442 454 - 1442 454
Bustralian liabilities include payables and loans extended to subsidiaries
Australian Namibia Australia Mining Total
Corporate Mining {discontinued
operation)
2019 $ $ § §
Segment liabilities* 287,307 26,988,725 - Zr2BE6032
Reconchiation of segment fiabiities to group
nabilities
Intar-segmeant aliminations** - (26,974 253} - (26,974 253}
Total group habilities A7 307 14,472 - 177

NCOTE 4: OTHER INCOME

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

$ §

Interast recened 21 2,372
Metgain on dispasal of plant and equipment - 1,783
Currency gain - 288

Miscellaneaus incomse
Governmeant grants [job-keeper, cash boosty
TOTAL OTHER INCOME

NCOTE 5 EXPENSES

139,716 100,080
13,000 -

152,737 123533

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
$ $
Loss hefore income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Cepreciation

Cfice equipment - 126

Furniture & fitting 3,266 3266

Flant and equipmeant 523 9472

Camputer software and eguipment * - 4183

Right of Usa-Cifice Lease Depreciation B4 764 -

Tatal Depreciation £3,653 22047

Total rental expense relating to operating leases - #6575

* Balance dischsed in discontinued aperations
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NCTE 6: INCOME TAX

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
$ $
(a} Income tax expense
Currant tax 255 B23 376,519}
Defarrad tax - -
Deferred tax assets not recognised (255 523} FE519
(b} Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax
payahle
The prima facie tax on (lass} befare income tax is reconciled to the income tax
a5 follaws
Prima facia tax payable on (loss} before income tax at 27.5% (2013:27 B} (301,751} [B66, 817}
Tax affect of amaounts which are not deductible (taxable} in calculating taxable
incame
- Explaration expenditure incurred — Mamibiz 61,344 776,065
- Cther allowable items (413 13}
-Man allowable items - -
- adwill arising fram acquisition - -
- Lass resulted from business discontinuity 47,250 BT 607
- Pravisians and acoruals 245453 (456,010}
Difference in overseas tax rates (86,353} 206,851}
Timing diffarencas nat recognisad - -
Tax ksses (utilised} ! not recognised (255,523} Ir6.514
Income tax expense - -
(c) Unrecognised temporary differences
Deferred tax assets (at 27 5% - Australian entities)
Carry forward tax losses BATT 326 5432349
Temparary differences 12,767 322138
5 190,093 5465 067
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NCOTE 7: DISCONTINUED GPERATIONS - LOSS OF CONTROL
7.1 Discontinued Cperations-Craton Mining and Exploration Pty Ltd

[a) Cescription

On 2% Decembsr 2019 IBML signad an agresment with 3 UK based Private Equity fund Greenstons vWenture Capital LP. All
Craton issued sharas previcushy held by IBML have been sol to 3 new entity Omice Copper Lid [Mauritivs) with the shares in
this entity hekl 52.7% by Greenstons and 48.3% by IBML.

The fund has the right, subject to an agreed expenditure and timetable, to retain = sharehelding in Omico return for
completing a BFS with a minimum expenditure of US05.0m. At the conclusicn of the BFS, and assuming it mests the required
future investment hurdles, IBML has the cption to aithar =2l its 2quity in Omize to the Fund for USDT.5m plus 3 1.5% smelting
reyalty or invest in the future project to the extent of s equity heling.

IBML has effectively lost contrel of Craten and asfrom 203 December 281% has de-consclidated Craten and instead receqgnised
IBML's investment in Omico Copper Lid 35 an inwestment in an associate [1efer to note 8).

bl Assets and liabilities of discontinued operation

Azsgets of Discontinued operation 23 December
2%
5
Cash 74,352
Cthar assets 45 557
Deposits -
Expleration assets and Property, plant and eguipmeant 3438
Total agsets of Discontinued Operation 125 348
Liabilities of Discontinued operation
Trade and cther payvables 32500
Tatal liabilities of Discontinwed Operation 3,20
Met assets of Discontinued Operation 122 {165

[c} Financia performance and cash flow information

2} December At Jung
HHG H1E
L2 E
Revenus 45,573 14,348
Expensas (65,334 [388,352)
Less an de-consclidation [122 45T) -
Loss before income tax on discontinued operations (171,818} [375,52)
Income tax axpense - -
Loss before after income tax on discontinued operations (171,818} [375,52)
Met [cutflew) from cperating activities [171,284) 21,83
Met cash inflow frem investing activities 41,275 -
Met cash [cutflow)finflow frem financing activities - -
Net [oecrease) in cash used by the discontinued entities (125,585 (81,630
[y Details ofthe gale of shares in Craton
Consideration receiwed or receivable
Cash 1
Total disposal consideration 1
Camying ameount of net assets =ck 122 058)
Loss an sale before income tax (122 057)
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NCGTE 7: DISCGNTINUED GPERATIONS - LGSS GF CONTROL {continued)

7.2 Discontinued Cperations - Macquarie Gold Limited

[a) Description

On 22 March 2318 subsidiaries Macguarie Geld Limited (MGL) and Challengar 22 March
Mines Pty Ltd were placed in receivership by lenders to MGL as 3 result of the HHMG
bomower not being successful in negetiating an extension of the repayment terms
with the kendars. $
b1 Assets of Discontinued operation
Cash 283,682
Cther assets 14,635
Depcsits AT L5
Exploration assets and Property, plant and equipment -
Total assets of Discontinued Operation 725,452
{c1  Liabilities of Discontinued operation
Trade and cther payables 153,153
Loans 3518135
Provisions o A5
Total liabilities of Discontinwed Operation 4 468,824
) Financial performance amd cash flow information
Revenus TE83
Expenses [802,TE5)
Impaimeant of assats [4,357,731)
Gain on de-consolidation 2743374
[Less) before income tax on discontinued operations 1,405 479
Income tax expense -
[Loss) after income tax on discontinued operatichs 1 A0 470
hiat [cutflow) from operating activities [B27,518)
Met cash [cutflow) from investing activities [ BE5)
Met cash [cutflew) from finanging activities Sy
Met (decrease) in cash used by the discontinued entities [F18 454)

MCTE 8: INVESTMENT IN AN ASSCGCIATE

IBML's investmant in Omice Copper Ltd has been recorded as an investment in an asscoiate as IBML does not have contrel of
thiz entity with a shareheking of 48.3%. IBML's subscription paid to Omice was USE4E3 (AEE71). IBML's share of kessasin
Dmico has been taken up as a decrease in investment in associate to the extant bringing valus down to nil

Consolidated Group
June 2020 Juie 2019
$ $

Imvestmant in assceiate Omice Copper Lid - 28 December a7 -

Share of less in asscoiate [B7T1) -

Investmant in associate Omico Copper Lid - 24 Juns - -
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NCTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
$ $
Cash &t bank and in hand 408,788 297 742
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown 0 the cash tow statement is
recaonciled ta cash atthe end of the linancial year as fllaws:
Cash at bank and in hand 408,738 297,742

Interest rate exposure
The Graup and the parent antity's expasure ta intarast rate risk is disclosed in Mate 2.

NCOTE 10: CURRENT ASSETS — TRADE AND GTHER RECEIVAELES

Consolidated Group

2020 20149

3 ki3

Cther receivables - 3,503
WATHGEST refund due - 76,640
Prepayments - 4510
Total Trade and other receivables - & 653

Fair value and credit risk

Due ta the shor-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value. Na
receivable are past due atvear end.

NCGTE 11: NON-CURRENT ASSETS — DEPGSITS

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

$ $
Cepasits paid [office leases} 15,056 15,056
Total Cepasits paid 15,058 15,056

Fair value and credit risk
The carnying amount is assumad to appraximate their fair value.

NCOTE 12: JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Cobar!Actway Joint Venture

AuriCula Mines Pty Ltd, & wholly ownad subsidiary of IBML, has an exploration Jaint venture with Cobar Managemant
Pty Lid ('CMPL'} and Actway Pty Lid ("Actway'y in the Cobar district, of central Mew South Wales. AuriCula halds
Exploration Licence (‘EL'} 6223 (Shuttieton Prcject); another tenement, EL 6307 (Mt Hope Project}, is haeld by Actway.
CWMPL managas the prajects.
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NOTE 13: NGN-CURRENT ASSETS — PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office  Furniture & Land & Flant & WMotor  Computer
Equipment Fittings Buildings Egquipment Vehicles Equipment Total
§ $ § $ § $ §
Year ended 30 Jure 2019
Cpening Met book value - 16,574 330,000 1,050,326 21,324 2632 14208583
Impairment - - [359,850% (1,051 ,270y (11,000} (2,088} (1 424,318}
Aaditions 126 - 29,350 18,220 - 4182 43,478
Oispasal
- - - - {7,000} - (7,000}

Faraign exchange [958 an -
anversian - 1 160 35 16 22
Cepraciation charga 126} 13 266} - 19472} - (4,183} (22047}
Closing Net book walue at 30 - 3,300 - 4 J64 34186 hag 17,233
June 2019
At 30 June 2019
Cost ar fair value at acquisition 3125 44 285 - 127120 23,747 85,000 64277
date
Accumulated depreciation (3125} (359376} - 122156 (85331 (84451} (347 038}
MNat Book Yalue - 4,300 - 4 964 34186 54q 17,233
Year ended 30 June 2020
Dpening Met book value - 4,300 - 4 964 34186 54q 17,233
Aaiditian - - - - - - -
Cisposal - (@3} - (4474} - [552} (5,063}
Faraign exchange [958 an
Lanversian - - 33 22 3 58
Cepreciation charge - 3,266} - (523} (3,433} - 12,227}
Closing Net book value - - - - - - -
At 30 June 2020
Castar fair value at acquisition
date - 2y - - 89,328 - 126,545
Accumulated depreciation - (37,217} - - 85,390} - {23107}
Oisoantinued Cperatian - - - - (3,438} - (3438}

Met book value

NCTE 14: CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

$ $
Trade payables 218 893,023
Sundry payable and accrued expenses 203,891 133,830
235109 236,903
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NOTE 15: PROVISIONS

Consolidated Group
2020 2019
$ $
Current
Employes benefits 4142 74376
Cpening balance 74,876 411
Balance at lass of cantral of subsidiarny - (5,491}
(Decrease phdditions in the vear (¥0, 734} {1,044}
Balance at end of year 4142 74376
MNon-current
Restoration and rehabilitation costs
Balance at acquisition date of subsidiary - 335,000
Additions in the year - -
Balance at lass of cantral of subsidiarny - (385,000}

Balance at end of year

NCTE 16: BORROWINGS

Consolidated Group

2020 2014
$ $

CURRENT
Loans from Directors 500,000 -
Accrued interest an loans from Directors and Directors' related entities 53,882 -
553,452 -

These bormowings were incurrad in August 2013, two directors of IBML lent in total $500,000 to IBML.
Security on all loans is a first ranking general security granting security over the barrower's assets.

NON-CURRENT
Convertible note
Accrued interest an convertible notes

£00,000 -
25 821

625,321 B,

On 17 March 2020, a convertible note which amount is 0.6 million was issued to a related party, Rui King Resources
from IBML. Interestis calculated at a rate of 15% pa and payable an the last day of each € month anniversary eitharin
<ash ar in shares. The notes haye a maturity of 2 yvears. Rui King Resourcas may issue a conversion notice at any time

gfter 18 months to convert the notes info 68,931,250 ordinary shares.
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NOTE 17: ISSUED CAPITAL

2020 2019 2020 2019
No of No of
Shares Shares $ $
Fully paid ardinary shares 689,312,504 €39,312504 €3,036 5820 £9,086,820

Fully paid ordinary shares carny one vote per share and carny the right to dividends.
{a) Dptions

o aptions were issued during the financial year. There are no unexpired options an issue (2013 nil}.
th} Ordinary shares

Crdinary shares paricipate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proporion to the
number of sharas held.

At the sharehalders' meetings each ardinary share is entitled to one wvote when a poll is called, othenwise each
shareholkder has one vate an a shaw of hands.

Crdinary shares heve na par value and the company does nat have & limited amaunt of autharisad capital.
All ordinary shares issued are fully paid up.
{c) Capital risk management
The Group and the parent entity's abjective whan managing capital are o safeguard their ability to continue as a

gaing concern, 5o that they can continue to pravide returns ta sharehalders and benafits to othear stakehalders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In arder to maintain ar acjust the capital structure, the Graup may issue new shares ar seek debt ta fund aperations.

The Group and the parent entity continually manitar capital on the basis of budgeted expenditure. The Group had no
kng-term debt at balance date.

NCTE 18: RESERVES AND ACCUMULATED LOSSES
ta) Foreign Exchange Translation Reserves (FETR)

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
$ $
Balance at beginning of financial vear 1,715563) 1,713 521)
Currency translation differences arising during the vear (432} (2,047}
Transfer to accumulated losses on deconsalidation of 5 subskdiany 1,716,000 -
Balance at end of financial year - (1,715 564)
(0 Accumulated losses
Movements in retained losses were as fallows:
Balance 1 July I67,272,336) (64,126,273)
Met (loss} attributable to members of the Company (1,087 278} (3,152,063}
Transfer fram FETR 1,716,000} -
Balance 30 June {70,091,612) (67 .273,336)

{c) Nature and purpose of reserves

Foreign Exchange Transiation reserve

The translation resenre comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
gtatements of fareign operations where their functional currency is different to the presentation currency of the
reparting entity.
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NCTE 19: PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATIGN

(a) Summary financial information

The individual financial statements far the parent entity shaw the fallowing aggregate amounts

Parent Entity

2020 20149
$ $
Current assets 406,433 104 653
fan-Current ss5ets 37,877 23324
Total assets 444 360 127 977
Current iabilties 813,286 297 307
Mon-Current liabilities 625 831 -
Total liabilities 1439147 297,307
Shareholders' equity
Contributed equity 53,096 820 59,096 820
Ratained losses 70,0581 607} (689 266 150}
Total equity (094 737 (169,330}
Lass for the vear [B25 457} [2 765 723}
Total Comprehensive Income 325,457} (2,765,723}
Loans by parent to controlled entities
Amaunts awing by cantralled entities (28,151,750} (23,141,001}
Provision far impairment of receivables (23,151,750} (28,141,001}

i

tii)

(i}

Impaired receivables and receivables past due

At 30 June 2020 $29151,780 (2013; 523141 001} owing by contralled entities was impaired. The
impairment has resulted from the Parert Entity and a controlled entity advancing warking capital to
Cantralled Entities which have na incoma and therefare are nat in & pasition &t this explaration stage ta
maet their liability ta the Parant Entity ar controllad entity.

The Company has signed loan standstil agreement with Greenstone in terms of Omica's Contralled
Entity, Craton Mining and Exploration [Py} Lid. Baoth parties agreed not to <all up the above-mentioned
kans totslling 527,985 002 (2019: 26,974 251} until this Contralled Entities is able to pay its debis a5
and when they fall due; and to provide further funding a5 is necessary to anable the Contralled Entities ta
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.

Impaired investment in subsidiaries

The group's acoounting palicy is consistent with acoounting standards that financial assets are carried at
fair value in acoardance with AASE 3.

The accounting palicies far the Parent Entity (IEML} are the same as those of the group, other than
investments in subsidiany which are carried at their cost, less any impairment.

At 30 June 2020 the parent company's imvestment in Craton Mining and Exploration (Pty} Lid was
$12,705,129 which was fully pravisianed far impairment ag & result of IEML kasing its cantral aver Cratan
Mining and Explaration [Py} Ltd.

Fair values

The carrying amaount is assumed o appraximate the fair value of the kans to controlled entities of Bl
Infarmation abaut the Group's expasure to credit and interest risk is provided in kote 2.
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NOTE 20: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSCONNEL DISCLOSURES

fa) Key management personnel compensation

Consolidated Group

2020 2014

$ $

Shor-erm emplyee benefits 458842 310,871
Share based payments - -
453 342 910,371

Details of key management personnel remuneration are includad in the remuneration repart.
(M Shareholdings of key management personnel
Cetails of shareholdings of key management personnel are disckised in the remuneration report.
{c  Dption holdings of key management personnel
o aptions are held by KMP's (2015 RMil}.
Thera have bean ng ather transactions inwalving equity instrumants athaer than those dascribed in the table abave.
Far details of ather transactions with KMP's (including kans) refer to Mate 22 Related Party Transactians.

NOTE 21: REMUNERATICN GF AUDITORS

Consolidated Group
2020 20149
$ $
Auditor to the parent company
Audit and review of financial statements
Grant Tharntan Audit Pty Ltd 50,000 94,878
Auditors of subsidiaries
Grant Thornton Meuhaus - 11,233
Other services o the subsidiaries
Taxation Services — Zane Advisory Phy Lid 5,000 -
Taxatian sanvicas — Ermst Young - 4,632
Taxatian sandicas — Willtax - 4,250
55,000 115,053

NOTE 22: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTICNS

Transactions betwean related paries are an narmal commercial terms and conditions no mare favourable than thase
s/ailable to ather paries unless otherwise statad.

(@) Parent entity
The parant entity within the Group is International Base Matals Limited.
(k)  Suhsigiaries
Interasts in subsidiaries are setautin Mata 23
) HKey management personnel
Disclksures in relation to key management persaonnel are set autin Mote 20
Qther transaciions with refated parties of Paremt

Aggregate amounts of each of the above typaes of transaction with related parties of the Group not including
key management persannel

Consolidated Group

2020 2019
$ $

Amounts outstanding from related parties
Secured Loans from related party — Director (including accrued interest) 553852 -
Carertible Mate fram related party- Sharehalder (including aconiad interast) 625,87 -
Directars’ fees and service faes payable to KMP's and their related parties ¥3,370 53,5585
Amaunts payable to Hunter Bay Partners Pty Lid 20,075 20,075

Expenses claimed by Tamerlane Adviscry Group Pty Ltd (3 company related to Hugh Themas) has been included in directors' fees.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

NCOTE 23: CONTROLLED ENTITIES

(a) Suhsidiaries

The group's principal subsidiaries at 30 June 2020 are set out below. Unless atharwise stated, they have
share capital consisting salely of ardinary sharas that are held directly by the group, and the proparion of
awnarship interests held equals the wvoting rights held by the group. The country of incorparation ar

redistration is alsa their principal place of business.

hame of entity Nature of Operations Countryof Ownership
Incarporation Interest

2021 2019

FParent enfify

Internaticnal Base Metals Limited Holing Company Australia 100% 100%

Confrolfed enfifies

AuriCula Mines Py Lid Expleraticn Australia - 180%

Craton Mining and Expleration [Phy) Lid * Explzraticn Mamitia - 100%

Omitiemire Mining Company [Pty Ltd Explzraticn Mamibia 1000 180 %

Macguarie Gold Limited * Explzraticn Australia 100% 100%

Chalienger Mines Py Ltd * Expleration Australia - 1455 %

* Craton Mining and Exploration [Pty) Lid has been sokl during the vear to Omice Copper Ltd. The Company owns <8.3% of the shares

of this entity who is classified as an azsociate [refer to note 8)

* Macquarie Gol was placed in Receivarship on 22 March 2318 IBML subsequently akso appeointed 2 Raceiver on 28 March 2315, As
3 result of this appeintment and the koss of control, MGL and its subsidiary CML have been deconsclidated. On 15 May 2020 Hogan
Sprowles has settled the Asset and Share Sale Deed with 30 Rescurces Limited [DOD) of zaleof Challenger Mines Pty Ltd. And Hegan
Sprowides retired as Recsivers and Managers appointed over the assets of Challenger Mines on the same day. Payments were made
from the settlement proceeds and distributed to debt holders en 1% June 2024 Hegan Sprowles resigned as receiver of MGL on 28 July

220

NOTE 24: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Hegan Sprowles resigned as the receiver of MGL on 20 July 2020

The COVID-12 pandemic did not have any significant impact on the Group's operaticnz during the year.
Subszequent to the end of the financial year, the pandemic and its impact has continuad te evolve with
further cutbreaks resulting in leckdown restrictions in Victeria, additional berder closures between

states, new stimulus measures (such as Jobkeeper 2.0) and many other items.

practical to estimate the potential impact, pesitive or neqgative, after reperting date.

Cin the 24 October 2020, the debt holders extended the maturity of the lean of $500 000 from 13

February 2021 te 13 February 2022,

It iz therefore not

There are no other matters or circumstances that have arizen since the end of the financial year which
has significantly affected, or which may significantly affect the operaticns of the consclidated entity, the
results of thoze operations, of the state of affairs of the consclidated entity in future financial years. We

will continue te monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the Group's operations.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

NCOTE 25: RECONCILIATION GF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TG NET CASH GUTFLOW FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Consolidated Group

2020 20149
$ $
Cperating (loss} after income tax (1,097,276} (3,152,063}
Man-cash items includad in profit and loss:
- depreciation and amartizatian 63,030 22,047
- Impairment of property, plant and equipment - 1424318
- Impairment of devalopment assets - 2833413
- Finance costs recognised not paid 78,74 -
- Lossi{gaint on deconsalidation of subsidiaries 122,087 (3,743,374}
- Gain an disposal of property, plant and equipment - (1,555}
- Met foreign exchange difference (449} (2,047}
Change in assets and liabilities
Dwecrease in receivables 38102 3611
(Decreasepincrease in payables (43,025} 144,301
[Decresse) in pravisions [70,73d} 6,530}
Met cash (outflow) from operating activities {912 554) 12,377 234)

NCTE 26: LOSS PER SHARE

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

Cent per Cents per

Share Share

Basic loss per share (0.16} (046}
Diluted loss par share [0.16} 046}

Basic and difuted Ioss per share

The earnings and weightad average number af ardinary shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted kKss per share
are as follows:

2020 2019

$ $

Lass (i} (1,097 275} (3152 D63}
Weighted average number of ardinany shares (i} 633,312,504 635312504

(i Losses used in the calkoulation of basic and dilutad lass par share are net kss aftar tax attributable 0 owners as par
statement of comprehensive income.

(it There were na oplions outstanding at 30 June 2020 (2013; Mil} and therefore no dilutive effect an the weighted
average number of ardinary shares and potential ordinary shares usad in the calculation of diluted kss per share.

NCOTE 27: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
Right-of-use Assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
. any initial direct costs, and

. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group i= reascnably cerain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated overthe underlying asset's useful life.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

NCGTE 2¥: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES [continued})

Right-of-uze azzets are presented in the statement of financial pesition az follows:

Consolidated Group
2020 20149
$ $
Non-current asseis
Right of use assets — office lease 77,582 -
Less: accumulated depreciatian (54,764} -
22318 -

Lease Liabilities
Lease ligbilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

v fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), le=s any lease incentives receivable;

v variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured uzing the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

v ameunts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

v the exercise price of a purchase option if the group is reasenably certain to exercise that option; and

v payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are alse included in the
reasurement of the liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
ff that rate cannot be readily determined, the entity's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that
the individual leszee would havete pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar ecenemic envirenment with similar terms, security and coenditions.

Teo determine the incremental borrewing rate, the Group uses recent arm's length borrowing rate received as
a starting peint, adjusted te reflect changes in financing conditicns since borrowing was received, making
adjustments specific to the lease (e.g. term, country, currency and security).

Leaze payments are allecated between principal and finance cest. The finance cost iz charged te profit or
losz ower the lease pericd 50 as to produce a constant periedic rate of interest on the remaining balance of
the liability for each period.

Lease ligbilities are presentad in the statement of financial pesition az follews:

Consolidated Group

2020 2019

$ §
Current 23480 -
Marcurrent - -
23460 -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

NCGTE 2¥: RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES [continued})

The leaze liabilities are secured by the related underlying assetz. Future minimuom lease payments at 30
June 2020 were as follows:

Within one Two OF more Total
year Years
30 June 2020
Lease payments 23,840 - 234460
Finance charges (180} - (180}
23,480 - 23460

Additional profit or loss and cash flow information

Amounts recegnised in the statement of profit or less and sther comprehensive income

Consolidated Group
2020 2019
] §

Depraciation 54 764 -
Interest expense 2246 -
NCTE 28: COGNTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
There are no contingent assets and liabilities az at 30 June 2020,
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Shareholder Information

Staternent of izsued zecurities as at 26 Cctober 2020

There are 345 shareholders holding a tetal of F07,942 572 erdinary fully paid shares on izzue by the
Company eligible to be pre=ent at any general meeting of the Company and to vote on any question on a
show of hands and upen a poll and to be reckonead in a quorum.

Distribution of issued =securities as at 26 Cotober 2020,
Chdinary fully paid shares

i Number -
Range of holding of holders Tatal Units
1- 1,000 - -
1,001 - 5,000 3 7,500
5001 - 10,000 G 51,655
10,001 - 100,000 129 7414669
100,001 - and aver 210 700,465,748
Total holders 38 707,942 BY2

Substantial shareholdings as at 26 Cctober 2020 of Fully Paid Crdinary Shares

Ordinary shareholder Total relevant interest notified 10 of total voting rights
Rui King Resources Limited 163,630,063 2382

‘West Minerals Pty Limited 113,326,482 1671

Farramin Pty Ltd (The Amblar Unit Adc) 56,909,073 3.04
Feilangjiang Heilong Resources

Investment Co Lid 25022723 3583

The three entitias which are substantial Sharehalders are associates with 52.11% vating contral of the Campany.
Top Twenty Shareholders 26 Gctober 2020

Holder Hame Shares held Yo
RUl KING RESOURCES LIMITED 168,630,068 23.82%
WEST MINERALS PTY LIMITED 118,326,492 16.71%
FERROMIN PTY LTD «<THE AMBLER UNIT AfC> 56,309,078 B.04%
HEILOMGIANG HEILONG RESOURCES INWESTRENT CO LTD 25,022,723 3.53%
CHIMA KINGS RESOURCES GROUR COLTD 22,500,000 3.18%
BUDSIDE PTY LTD <EMPLOYEES SUPER FUND A/C> 21,215,375 3.0B%
CHIMA SUN INDUSTRY PTY LTD 20,000,000 2.83%
MANICA MINERALS LTD 15,000,000 2.12%
TAMERLANE GROUP LIMITED 13,603,963 1.92%
PEARL GLOBAL INVESTREMNT LIMITED 13,333,333 1.28%
BLACKMANS & ASSOCIATES PTY LTD <SUPER FUND A/C= 13,000,000 1.24%
JIAN XU 10,718,379 1.51%
MR KEMNETH JOHN MAIDEN & MRS MARGARET FRANCES MAIDEN

T A DEN FAMILY 5/F &/C> 10,541,751 1.459%
GREAT SE& WAVE INVESTMENT FTY LTD 9,167,333 1.259%
MACOUARIE BANK LTD B,333,333 1.18%
THETA ASSET MANAGEMENT LINITED <AUCTUS RESOURCES FUND A/C= B,333,333 1.18%
MR DEMMIS JAMES MORTON 7,782,719 1.10%
TECTOMET EXPLORATION PTY LTD 7,220,277 1.02%
OCTAN ENERGY PTY LTD 6,681,006 0.94%
PEAK SUCCEED INWESTMENTS LIMITED 5,666,667 0.94%
Total Securities of Top 20 Holdings 563,565,920 79.61%
Total of Securities 707 942 572
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8.4 Related Party Financial Agreements

a. A secured loan provided by Messrs Rui Liu and Qiang Chen

On 14 August 2019, agreements were signed with a related party of Director Mr Qiang Chen
(Far Union Ltd) and Director Mr Rui Liu to advance loans totalling $0.5 million being $0.1
million from Far Union Ltd and $0.4 million from Mr Liu. This amount was drawn down as
required by the Company giving notice to the lenders. The original maturity date of the
loans is 18 months from the date the agreements were signed, with interest at 13.5% pa. The
interest is payable with the principal at maturity date. Rollover Loan Agreements were
signed with Far Union Ltd and Mr Rui Liu on 26 October 2020 to extend the repayment date
for an additional 12 months with the new maturity date being 13 February 2022. At the date
of this report the loans have been fully drawn down and interest is accruing.

The loans are secured by a general security granted to each of the lenders over all of the
assets of the Company.

If the Company fails to repay the loans on the maturity date as set out above, this default
allows the lenders to enforce their security over all of the assets of the Company. The
realisation of those assets may not provide sufficient funds to repay the loans.

b. Convertible Note issued to Rui King Resources Limited

On 17 March 2020, a convertible note with principal of $0.6 million was issued to the related
party of Director Mr Rui Liu, Rui King Resources Limited by IBML. Interest is calculated at
a rate of 15% pa and payable on the last day of each 6-month anniversary either in cash or, at
IBML'’s election, by the issue by the Company to Rui King Resources Limited of 18,630,068
Shares, representing the amount of the interest payment for each interest period at an issue
price of $0.0043 per Share. The note has a maturity term of 2 years. Rui King Resources may
issue a conversion notice at any time after 18 months to convert the note into 68,931,250
Shares. Completion of such conversion is (if required) conditional on the approval of the
shareholders of the Company being obtained in accordance with exception 7 of section 611
of the Corporations Act.

The first interest payment was made in September 2020 to Rui King Resources in the form of
the issue of 18,630,068 Shares to Rui King Resources Limited.
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9. BOARD, MANAGEMENT AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

9.1 The Board of Directors

The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for corporate governance of the Company.
The Board develops strategies for the Company, reviews strategic objectives and monitors
performance against the objectives of its corporate governance processes listed below. The
objectives of the corporate governance processes are to:

a. maintain and increase shareholder value;
b. ensure an ethical basis for the Company’s conduct and activities; and
c. ensure compliance with the Company’s legal and regulatory objectives.

Consistent with these objectives, the Board assumes the following responsibilities:

a. developing initiatives for the augmentation, exploration and development of the
Company's assets;

b. reviewing the corporate, commercial and financial performance of the Company on a
regular basis; and

c. identifying business risks and implementing actions to manage those risks.

The Company, is committed to the following principles:

a. the Board is to comprise Directors with a blend of skills, experience and attributes
appropriate for the Company and its business; and

b. the principal criterion for the appointment of new Directors is their ability to add
value to the Company and its business.

No formal nomination committee has been adopted for the identification, appointment and
review of the Board membership, but an informal assessment process, facilitated by the
Chairman in consultation with the Company’s professional advisors, has been committed to
by the Board.

The Company has a six-member Board of Directors with a mix of commercial, financial and
geologic skills considered appropriate for the successful growth and development of the
Company.

Detailed summaries of the background and experience of each of the Directors is set out in
section 4.16 of this Offer Information Statement.

9.2 Management

In addition to the Board of Directors, corporate management is provided by the Company
Secretary and Finance Manager.
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10. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The Directors consider that the material contracts referred to below are the contracts that an
investor would reasonably regard as material and which investors and their professional
advisers would reasonably expect to find referred to in this Offer Information Statement for
the purpose of making an informed assessment of the Offer.

10:1 Commercial Agreements with joint venture partners

The Company and its subsidiaries are parties to agreements regulating the terms of the joint
ventures with respect to Omico Copper Limited (Greenstone) and Auricula Mines Pty Ltd
(Glencore), which joint ventures are described in section 6 of this Offer Information
Statement.

10:2 Mining and Exploration Licenses:

Details of the Company’s Mining and Exploration licences have been highlighted
throughout this Offer Information Statement. The Company’s Board believes all Licence are
in good standing and have not reason to believe none will not be renewed, if and, when they
fall due.

10.3 Normal Commercial Arrangements involved in running a non-listed Public
Company

The Company has commercial arrangements with its Auditors, Tax Advisor, IT Provider
and Landlord. The Board considers all these arrangements to be on relatively standard
commercial terms and at arms length.

10.4 Secured loan

The Company is party to the secured loan arrangements described in section 8.4a of this
Offer Information Statement.

10.4 Convertible note

The Company is party to the convertible note arrangements described in section 8.4b of this
Offer Information Statement.
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11. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1.1 Litigation

As at the date of this Offer Information Statement, the Company is not involved in any legal
proceedings and the Directors are not aware of any legal proceedings pending or threatened
against the Company.

11.2 Rights attaching to Shares

The following is a summary of the more significant rights attaching to Shares. This summary
is not exhaustive and does not constitute a definitive statement of the rights and liabilities of
Shareholders. To obtain such a statement, persons should seek independent legal advice.

Full details of the rights attaching to Shares are set out in the Constitution, a copy of which is
available for inspection at the Company’s registered office during normal business hours.

a. General meetings

Shareholders are entitled to be present in person, or by proxy, attorney or
representative to attend and vote at general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders may requisition meetings in accordance with section 249D of the
Corporations Act and the Constitution.

b. Voting rights

Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes
of Shares, at general meetings of Shareholders or classes of Shareholders:

i. each Shareholder entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy,

attorney or representative;

ii. on a show of hands, every person present who is a Shareholder or a
proxy, attorney or representative of a Shareholder has one vote; and

iii. on a poll, every person present who is a Shareholder or a proxy,
attorney or representative of a Shareholder shall, in respect of each
fully paid Share held by him, or in respect of which he is appointed a
proxy, attorney or representative, have one vote for the Share, but in
respect of partly paid Shares shall have such number of votes as bears
the same proportion to the total of such Shares registered in the
Shareholder’s name as the amount paid (not credited) bears to the
total amounts paid and payable (excluding amounts credited).
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C.

f.

Dividend right

Subject to the rights of any preference Shareholders and to the rights of the holders of
any shares created or raised under any special arrangement as to dividend, the
Directors may from time to time declare a dividend to be paid to the Shareholders
entitled to the dividend which shall be payable on all Shares according to the
proportion that the amount paid (not credited) is of the total amounts paid and
payable (excluding amounts credited) in respect of such Shares.

The Directors may from time to time pay to the Shareholders any interim dividends
as they may determine. No dividend shall carry interest as against the Company. The
Directors may set aside out of the profits of the Company any amounts that they may
determine as reserves, to be applied at the discretion of the Directors, for any
purpose for which the profits of the Company may be properly applied.

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Company may, by resolution of the Directors,
implement a dividend reinvestment plan on such terms and conditions as the
Directors think fit and which provides for any dividend which the Directors may
declare from time to time payable on Shares which are participating Shares in the
dividend reinvestment plan, less any amount which the Company shall either
pursuant to the Constitution or any law be entitled or obliged to retain, be applied by
the Company to the payment of the subscription price of Shares.

Winding-up

If the Company is wound up, the liquidator may, with the authority of a special
resolution of the Company, divide among the shareholders in kind the whole or any
part of the property of the Company, and may for that purpose set such value as he
considers fair upon any property to be so divided, and may determine how the
division is to be carried out as between the Shareholders or different classes of
Shareholders.

The liquidator may, with the authority of a special resolution of the Company, vest
the whole or any part of any such property in trustees upon such trusts for the
benefit of the contributories as the liquidator thinks fit, but so that no Shareholder is
compelled to accept any Shares or other securities in respect of which there is any
liability.

Shareholder liability
As the Shares under the Offer Information Statement are fully paid shares, they are
not subject to any calls for money by the Directors and will therefore not become

liable for forfeiture.

Transfer of Shares
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Generally, Shares are freely transferable, subject to formal requirements, the
registration of the transfer not resulting in a contravention of or failure to observe the
provisions of a law of Australia and the transfer not being in breach of the
Corporations Act.

Variation of rights

Pursuant to section 246B of the Corporations Act, the Company may, with the
sanction of a special resolution passed at a meeting of Shareholders vary or abrogate
the rights attaching to Shares.

If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of Shares, the rights
attached to any class (unless otherwise provided by the terms of issue of the shares of
that class), whether or not the Company is being wound up, may be varied or
abrogated with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters of the issued
shares of that class, or if authorised by a special resolution passed at a separate
meeting of the holders of the shares of that class.

Alteration of Constitution

The Constitution can only be amended by a special resolution passed by at least
three quarters of Shareholders present and voting at the general meeting. In addition,
at least 21 days written notice specifying the intention to propose the resolution as a
special resolution must be given.

11.3 Interests of Directors

Other than as set out in this Offer Information Statement, no Director or proposed Director

holds, or has held within the 2 years preceding lodgement of this Offer Information
Statement with the ASIC, any interest in:

the formation or promotion of the Company;
any property acquired or proposed to be acquired by the Company in connection
with:
1. its formation or promotion; or
ii.  the Offer; or
the Offer,

and no amounts have been paid or agreed to be paid and no benefits have been given or
agreed to be given to a Director or proposed Director:

as an inducement to become, or to qualify as, a Director; or

b. for services provided in connection with:

i. the formation or promotion of the Company; or
ii. the Offer.
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11.4 Interests of Experts and Advisors

Other than as set out below or elsewhere in this Offer Information Statement, no:

a. person named in this Offer Information Statement as performing a function in a
professional, advisory or other capacity in connection with the preparation or
distribution of this Offer Information Statement;

b. promoter of the Company; or

c. underwriter (but not a sub-underwriter) to the issue or a financial services licensee
named in this Offer Information Statement as a financial services licensee involved in
the issue,

holds, or has held within the 2 years preceding lodgement of this Offer Information
Statement with the ASIC, any interest in:

a. the formation or promotion of the Company;
b. any property acquired or proposed to be acquired by the Company in connection
with:
i. its formation or promotion; or
ii. the Offer; or
c. the Offer,

and no amounts have been paid or agreed to be paid and no benefits have been given or
agreed to be given to any of these persons for services provided in connection with:

a. the formation or promotion of the Company; or

b. the Offer.

Grant Thornton has audited the Company’s audited financial report for the twelve months
ended June 2020, which contains the comparative twelve month period to 30 June 2019, is
set out in section 8.3 of this Offer Information Statement The Company paid Grant Thornton
a total of $50,000 (excluding GST) for this service. This audits were the financial year end
accounts published by the Company and included in the Company’s Annual Report. During
the 24 months preceding lodgement of this Offer Information Statement with the ASIC,
Grant Thornton received $138,060 for the audit of the Company’s financial reports for the
two prior financial years.

McCullough Robertson has acted as the legal adviser to the Company in relation to the
Offer. McCullough Robertson has not undertaken any verification of the contents of
this Offer Information Statement or been involved in any due diligence. McCullough
Robertson did not prepare this Offer Information Statement and takes no responsibility
for its contents.

11.5 Consents

Each of the parties referred to in this Section:
a. does not make, or purport to make, any statement in this Offer Information
Statement other than those referred to in this section; and
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b. to the maximum extent permitted by law, expressly disclaim and take no
responsibility for any part of this Offer Information Statement other than a reference
to its name and a statement included in this Offer Information Statement with the
consent of that party as specified in this section.

S&W Audit and Assurance Pty Limited has given its written consent to being named as the
Company’s auditor in this Offer Information Statement. Grant Thornton was retired as the
Company’s auditor as the 2020 Annual General Meeting and S&W Audit and Assurance Pty
Limited was appointed as the Company’s Auditor going forward. S&W Audit and
Assurance Pty Limited has not withdrawn its consent prior to the lodgement of this Offer
Information Statement with the ASIC.

ASIC were informed and approved the change of the Company Auditor.
McCullough Robertson has given its written consent to being named as the legal advisers to
the Company for this Offer Information Statement. McCullough Robertson has not

withdrawn its consent prior to the lodgement of this Offer Information Statement with
ASIC.

11.6 Expenses of the Offer

The total expenses of the Offer (excluding GST) are estimated to be approximately $27,000
and are expected to be applied towards the items set out in the table below:

Item of Expenditure Full Subscription
($)

ASIC Fees 2,000

Legal Fees 15,000

Miscellaneous 10,000

TOTAL 27,000

11.7 Electronic Offer Information

If you have received this Offer Information Statement as an electronic Offer Information
Statement, please ensure that you have received the entire Offer Information Statement
accompanied by the Application Form. If you have not, please contact the Company and the
Company will send you, for free, either a hard copy or a further electronic copy of this Offer
Information Statement or both. Alternatively, you may obtain a copy of this Offer
Information Statement from the website of the Company at
https://www.interbasemetals.com/investor-information/announcements

The Company reserves the right not to accept an Application Form from a person if it has

reason to believe that when that person was given access to the electronic Application Form,
it was not provided together with the electronic Offer Information Statement and any
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relevant supplementary or replacement document or any of those documents were
incomplete or altered.

11.8 Privacy Statement

If you complete an Application Form, you will be providing personal information to the
Company. The Company collects, holds and will use that information to assess your
application, service your needs as a Shareholder and to facilitate distribution payments and
corporate communications to you as a Shareholder.

The information may also be used from time to time and disclosed to persons inspecting the
register, including bidders for your securities in the context of takeovers, regulatory bodies
including the Australian Taxation Office, authorised securities brokers, print service
providers, mail houses and the share registry.

You can access, correct and update the personal information that we hold about you. If you
wish to do so, please contact the Company at the relevant contact number set out in this
Offer Information Statement.

Collection, maintenance and disclosure of certain personal information is governed by
legislation including the Privacy Act 1988 (as amended), the Corporations Act and certain
rules. You should note that if you do not provide the information required on the
application for Shares, the Company may not be able to accept or process your application.
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12. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This Offer Information Statement is issued by the Company and its issue has been
authorised by a resolution of the Directors.

In accordance with Section 720 of the Corporations Act, each Director has consented to the
lodgement of this Offer Information Statement with the ASIC.

he

Hugh Ian Thomas

Chairman

For and on behalf of
International Base Metals Limited
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13. GLOSSARY

Where the following terms are used in this Offer Information Statement they have the
following meanings:

$ means an Australian dollar.

Application Form means the application form attached to or accompanying this Offer
Information Statement relating to the Offer.

Application Monies means the amount payable for the Shares applied for under this Offer
Information Statement.

ASIC means Australian Securities & Investments Commission.

ASX means ASX Limited (ACN 008 624 691) or the financial market operated by it as the
context requires.

Board means the board of Directors as constituted from time to time.

Closing Date means 5 February 2021, being the closing date of the Offer as set out in the
indicative timetable in the Investment Overview in section 4 of this Offer Information
Statement (subject to the Company reserving the right to extend the Closing Date or close

the Offer early).

Company means International Base Metals Limited (ABN: 73 100 373 635).

Constitution means the constitution of the Company.
Corporations Act means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Directors means the directors of the Company at the date of this Offer Information
Statement.

Eligible Shareholders means Shareholders in the Company at 9.00am (Sydney time) on the
Record Date.

Entitlement means each Shareholder’s entitlement under the Offer being an entitlement to
acquire 5 Shares for every 11 Shares held on the Record Date.

Expiry Date means 25 January 2022, or such other date as determined by the Directors (but
not later than 13 months after the date of this Offer Information Statement).
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Exposure Period means the period of 14 days after the date of lodgement of this Offer
Information Statement with ASIC, which period may be extended by ASIC by not more than
7 days pursuant to section 727(3) of the Corporations Act.

Offer means the offer of Shares pursuant to this Offer Information Statement as set out in
section 5 of this Offer Information Statement.

Offer Information Statement means this offer document prepared in accordance with
section 715 of the Corporations Act.

Share means a fully paid ordinary share in the capital of the Company.

Shareholder means a holder of Shares.

Underwriters means Rui King Resources Limited, West Minerals Pty Ltd and Rui Liu.
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14. Application Form

International Base Metals Limited ABN 73 100 373 635
(“*IBML”)

SHARE APPLICATION FORM

SHARES APPLIED FOR:
A. NUMBER OF SHARES PRICE PER TOTAL APPLICATION
SHARE AMOUNT
AU$0.0045 A$

X =

(or such lesser number of Shares that may be allocated to me/us.)

TOTAL AMOUNT PAYABLE A$

The full amount payable must accompany this Application

B. WRITE YOUR NAME HERE (THE ENTITY APPLYING MUST BE A SHAREHOLDER IN
IBML ON 29 DECEMBER 2020)

Applicant 1 — Title, Given Name(s) and Surname or Company Name or Trust <Account Name>

Applicant 2

Applicant 3

C. WRITE YOUR POSTAL ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER HERE

PO Box Number/Street Number and Street Name
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Suburb/Town State Post Code

Telephone Number - Home: Work:

Email address:

TAX FILE NUMBER (IF APPLICABLE)

TEN of Applicant 1 TFN of Applicant 2

Exemption Category Exemption Category

Note: Completion of this section is not compulsory.

CHEQUE PAYMENT DETAILS

Please fill out your cheque details and make your cheque payable to
"International Base Metals Limited”

Name of drawer of cheque Cheque No 8SB No Account No Amount
A$

Total Amount Enclosed A$

Cheques should be forwarded to:

International Base Metals Limited
Suite 201, Level 2,

29 Albert Avenue

Chatswood NSW 2067
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F. ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER DETAILS

International Base Metals Ltd (Trading Account)

Bank: Bankwest

Address: 300 Murray Street, Perth, WA 6000 Australila
Account Number: 092 5076

BSB: 302 100

Swift code: BKWAAUSP

Transfer Reference:

Applicants should insert their last name as the transfer reference

If using electronic funds transfer, submit your completed share application
form after the funds have been transmitted to:

International Base Metals Limited
Suite 201, Level 2,

29 Albert Avenue

Chatswood NSW 2067

DECLARATION

By lodging this Application Form and payment of the Application Monies, I/we declare that
l/we have read the accompanying Offer Information Statement, agree to bound by IBML’s
constitution and have applied for Shares on the terms in this document and waived any
right to communication of acceptance.

If my/our Application is accepted, I/we hereby irrevocably appoint International Base
Metals Limited ABN 73 100 373 635, its Directors and officers (Attorney) jointly and severally
to be my/our attorney (with power to appoint and from time to time removal of substitute or
substitutes), and authorise and empower my/our attorney in my/our name, on my/our
behalf, as my/our act and deed to do all things and to sign or seal any other documents or
declarations which are required to give effect to my/our subscription, and to do all things
necessary or expedient to give effect to the document set out in the Offer Information
Statement including completing the blanks, making any amendments, alterations or
additions to which the Attorney may consider to be necessary or not contrary in my/our interests.

I/we agree to ratify and confirm whatever my/our Attorney does under this Power of
Attorney and be bound, together with any person claiming under or through my/our, by
anything my/our Attorney does in exercising powers under this Power of Attorney.

The terms used in this Power of Attorney are the same as given to them in the Offer
Information Statement to which this Application form is attached.

Applicant’s Signature Applicant’s Signature
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